          1

          2  CITY COUNCIL

          3

             CITY OF NEW YORK

          4

             -------------------------------x

          5

             THE TRANSCRIPT OF THE MINUTES

          6

                       of the

          7

             COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          8  (Held Jointly With)

             COMMITTEE ON TECHNOLOGY In

          9  GOVERNMENT

         10  -------------------------------x

                            October 19, 2006

         11                 Start:  10:11 a.m.

                            Recess: 12:30 p.m.

         12

                            City Hall

         13                 Council Chambers

                            New York, New York

         14

         15       B E F O R E:

         16              LEROY COMRIE

                            Chairperson, Consumer Affairs

         17                 Committee

         18              GALE BREWER

                            Chairperson, Technology In Government

         19                 Committee

         20

                         COUNCIL MEMBERS:   James Gennaro

         21                                 Oliver Koppell

                                            Simcha Felder

         22                                 Bill DeBlasio

                                            Letitia James

         23

         24       LEGAL-EASE COURT REPORTING SERVICES, INC.

                         17 Battery Place -  Suite 1308

         25              New York, New York 10004

                              (800) 756-3410

                                                            2

          1

          2  A P P E A R A N C E S

          3

             John Banks

          4  Vice-President of Government Relations

             Consolidated Edison

          5

             George Jee

          6  Director of Resource Planning

             Consolidated Edison

          7

             Michael Kaplowitz

          8  Legislator

             Westchester County

          9

             Mark Williams

         10  Representative

             Meter Service Providers Association of New York

         11

             Lewis Kwit

         12  President

             Energy Investment Systems

         13

             Kayza Kleinman

         14  IT Director of Jewish Community Council of Greater

             Coney Island Director of the NonProfit HelpDesk

         15

             Francis Fallon

         16  Director, Hudson Division

             ARRL

         17

             Jim Mollenkopf

         18  Vice-President of Products and Architecture

             Current Technologies

         19

             Mike Lisenco

         20  District Emergency Coordinator

             Amateur Radio Emergency Service

         21

         22

         23

         24

         25

                                                            3

          1  CONSUMER AFFAIRS AND TECHNOLOGY IN GOVERNMENT

          2                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  That reminds me,

          3  let me turn my cell phone off, because I don't think

          4  I turned it off.  Just reminding folks to put their

          5  cell phones on silent for the meeting.

          6                 Good morning. I'm Leroy Comrie, Chair

          7  of the Consumer Affairs Committee.  I want to thank

          8  everyone for attending the Joint Hearing this

          9  morning of the Committee on Consumer Affairs and the

         10  Committee on Technology in Government.

         11                 I especially want to thank Council

         12  Member Gale Brewer, Chair of the Committee on

         13  Technology in Government, for bringing the issues of

         14  smart meters and Internet access through power lines

         15  to the Council's attention.  I also want to thank

         16  her staff for their work in preparing for this

         17  meeting.

         18                 As many of you know, the Consumer

         19  Affairs Committee is currently holding a series of

         20  Oversight Hearings stemming from the massive Queens

         21  County power outages last summer.  Although the

         22  subject of today's Hearing is not specifically in

         23  response to that emergency, one of the major

         24  concerns raised by the affected communities was Con

         25  Edison's underreporting of customers without
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          2  electricity.  By some accounts, Con Edison's early

          3  calculations were off by over 20,000 customers.

          4                 Smart meters at issue today have the

          5  potential to improve an electric utility's ability

          6  to monitor power disruptions and determine affected

          7  areas by recording and transmitting customer energy

          8  usage information in real time.  One of the

          9  advantages to smart meters is that customers can

         10  visually review the kilowatts of electricity being

         11  used and the price of the power, which changes

         12  throughout the day based upon demand.

         13                 Residents could choose to run high

         14  energy appliances such as dishwashers and laundry

         15  machines during off peak hours to reduce their

         16  energy costs.  Allowing customers to track their own

         17  power usage would reduce peak consumption by an

         18  estimated ten percent.

         19                 In addition to these benefits, smart

         20  meters are connected directly to the local power

         21  authority, so the power transmission station can

         22  retrieve information continually without the need

         23  for a live meter reader.  Therefore, these meters

         24  can recognize power disruptions and quickly enable

         25  the utility to establish an outage perimeter.  The
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          2  data recorded by the smart meter can be transmitted

          3  to the company through wi-fi signals, cell phone

          4  networks or even through power lines.

          5                 By transmitting this data over power

          6  lines, a utility can take advantage of its existing

          7  infrastructure to transmit information between the

          8  meter and the power distribution systems.  Today, we

          9  are going to discuss the use of power lines for this

         10  purpose, as well as consider consumer access to high

         11  speed Internet service through the electrical

         12  wiring.  It may be possible for a utility's

         13  customers to use the Internet simply by connecting a

         14  modem to the electrical grid.  This system would

         15  have the advantage of being accessible by every

         16  building and apartment that has an electrical

         17  outlet.

         18                 The Committees have invited

         19  representatives of Con Ed, the Public Service

         20  Commission, as well as several public interest and

         21  private groups to discuss these issues.  We look

         22  forward to listening to the testimony today.

         23                 I'd like to thank the staff that has

         24  been involved with this particular issue and helped

         25  myself and especially Council Member Brewer, who has
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          2  brought this issue to us.  My staff, Thomas

          3  Ferrugia, the Counsel to the Committee on Consumer

          4  Affairs, Brian Sogol, the Policy Analyst to the

          5  Committee on Consumer Affairs, Jeffrey Baker, the

          6  Counsel to the Committee on Technology in Government

          7  and Colleen Pagter, sorry if I ruined that, Policy

          8  Analyst to the Committee on Technology in

          9  Government.

         10                 At this time, I'd like to turn it

         11  over to my colleague and the Chair of the Committee

         12  on Technology in Government, Council Member Gale

         13  Brewer.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Thank you very

         15  much and the real thanks goes to Council Member

         16  Leroy Comrie, who has had, I think five or four

         17  Hearings this month and who deserves great credits

         18  for doing one more on this topic.  So, thank you

         19  Council Member Comrie.

         20                 I'm going to just start my opening

         21  remarks by doing a very quick Powerpoint, much

         22  thanks to Colleen.  I think you know that smart

         23  meters can communicate, they can capture and

         24  transmit energy use information as it happens.

         25  That's their advantage.  They can record data on

                                                            7

          1  CONSUMER AFFAIRS AND TECHNOLOGY IN GOVERNMENT

          2  consumption, demand, time of use, and communicate

          3  this information on a real time basis to a local

          4  power authority, just as Council Member Comrie

          5  indicated. We feel that they promote energy

          6  efficiency by ten percent, as was stated earlier,

          7  and people can track their own consumption.

          8                 The cost of smart meters, they vary

          9  depending on the manufacturer and the design.  We'll

         10  hear about that later. They cost around $30.00,

         11  standard meters cost around $30.00 compared to smart

         12  meters that cost more, that range from $100.00 to

         13  $600.00.  So, they cost more, but as we suggested

         14  earlier, energy costs can outweigh the price of the

         15  meter.  I think when I thought of this, I thought of

         16  all the challenges we went through when water was

         17  trying to be saved.  I think we found recently that

         18  there's a great deal of savings in our water.  We

         19  hope to do the same thing as time goes on with

         20  energy.

         21                 On federal legislation, Congress

         22  passed the Energy Policy Act of 2005, which seeks to

         23  promote, remove barriers to and develop funding for

         24  smart meter installation.  The Act also calls on

         25  state public utility commissions to determine the
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          2  impacts of universal smart meter deployment.  It set

          3  new national standards for all utilities, which

          4  include demanding companies to offer time- based

          5  rate schedules.

          6                 In other areas, in 2006, California's

          7  Public Utilities Commission approved smart meters

          8  for customers of Pacific Gas and Electric Company,

          9  PG and E, as it's well know and authorized a company

         10  to spend $1.7 billion for installation of the

         11  technology.  Southern California Edison is planning

         12  to spend $1.3 billion to deploy five million meters

         13  between 2008 and 2012. Ontario, Canada has

         14  established targets for the installation of 800,000

         15  smart meters by the end of 2007 and the installation

         16  for all Ontario customers by the end of December

         17  2010.  TXU Electrical Delivery is planning to

         18  provide meters to all of its customers over the next

         19  five years, using this power line technology.

         20                 New York State PSC, Public Service

         21  Commission, in August, 2006, in an order, the PSC

         22  directed electric utilities to develop and deploy,

         23  to the extent feasible and cost- effective, advanced

         24  metering systems for the benefit of customers.  The

         25  Commissioner also required the utilities to file a
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          2  comprehensive plan for development and deployment of

          3  advanced metering in its territory.  The Commission

          4  encourages companies, PSC Commission, encourages

          5  companies to conduct pilot programs to test these

          6  different proposals for advanced metering systems.

          7                 Council Member Comrie also talked

          8  about BPL, broadband over power lines.  It uses the

          9  existing power grid to deliver high speed Internet

         10  service to the electrical outlet with the addition

         11  of equipment on the power grid and a plug- in modem

         12  in the home, plug it into the outlet.

         13                 BPL has the advantage of being

         14  accessible by every building and apartment that has

         15  an electrical outlet.  A BPL network can be remotely

         16  accessed even during power outages, allowing instant

         17  recognition outage locations.  BPL can also be used

         18  in automated meter reading technology or smart

         19  meters.  It's generally less expensive to deploy

         20  than cable and telephone company's broadband and it

         21  provides increased competition and choices for

         22  customers in the broadband market.

         23                 BPL has disadvantages.  Power lines

         24  can act as antennas and unintentionally emit

         25  broadband signals as radio signals.  It can be a
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          2  potential interference for radio services using the

          3  same frequency.  Some studies have determined that

          4  interference from BPL could affect public safety

          5  mobile radio receivers, a topic that we've had many

          6  Hearing on here in the Council.  Radio systems can

          7  also slow or stop BPL service in the same area.  I'm

          8  sure we'll have some discussion about that.

          9                 FCC regulations, Federal

         10  Communications.  In October, 2004, the FCC adopted

         11  an order regarding new requirements and measurement

         12  guidelines for BPL.  After the order was released,

         13  the amateur radio and BPL communities filed petition

         14  for reconsideration.  In August, 2006, the FCC

         15  reaffirmed its rules governing BPL.

         16                 Here in New York regarding BPL.  In

         17  2005, Ambient Corporation deployed BPL service in a

         18  16- floor, 213- unit condominium building located on

         19  Manhattan's Upper West Side, also known as Riverside

         20  South, Trump, et cetera.  Con Ed uses an Ambient BPL

         21  network to provide voice communications in a New

         22  York City underground steam tunnel.  In 2002, Con Ed

         23  deployed a BPL network in the Village of Briarcliff

         24  Manor, New York and now passes over 700 residences.

         25  TelkoNet and Microwave Satellite Technologies offer
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          2  BPL in several Trump buildings in New York City.

          3                 BPL in other cities.  The first

          4  large- scale commercial BPL development in North

          5  America was in the City of Manassas, Virginia.  The

          6  Austin Texas City Council in July of 2006 approved

          7  GTSI Corp. To design, build and operate a system to

          8  provide broadband Internet service over that city's

          9  power grid. San Diego Gas and Electric is testing

         10  BPL technology.  Current Communications Group is

         11  using BPL in partnership with Cinergy Corp. to

         12  provide service to approximately 50,000 homes in

         13  Cincinnati and is partnering with TXU Electric

         14  Delivery to provide BPL to more than two million

         15  customers in the Dallas- Fort Worth area.

         16                 So, the Resolution that we're looking

         17  at today, Number 425, calls upon our New York State

         18  PSC, Public Service Commission, to allow individual

         19  apartments to access real time energy pricing

         20  through the use of smart meters.  New York

         21  applications to building- wide programs are only

         22  available to specific building ownership types,

         23  including rentals, co- ops, condos, single- and

         24  multi- family homeowners.  Reso. 425, however, calls

         25  for smart meter installations in individual
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          2  apartments by use for all tenants.

          3                 I just want to say that, last night,

          4  on channel 13, Bill Moyers (phonetic) had a

          5  wonderful program, if you haven't seen it, I was

          6  just flicking the channels.  It covered all the

          7  topics, municipal wireless, municipal application,

          8  BPL, every kind of way in which we're thinking about

          9  these issues.

         10                 So, there was a wonderful example

         11  that I'll  -- Council Member Comrie talked about the

         12  Con Ed application consideration as part of a

         13  continuum in the Consumer Affairs Committee, which

         14  is certainly applicable.  From the technology

         15  perspective, I'm looking at this as another example

         16  as to how we can not only save energy, save

         17  consumers dollars, but also think of ways that

         18  technology can be applied in a way that does all of

         19  the above.

         20                 It was a wonderful example that Bill

         21  Moyers gave. I don't know if it's true, but it was

         22  pretty, pretty shocking in a positive way.  Library

         23  of Congress has a lot of material in it. He said

         24  under dial- up, if we were to dial- up all that

         25  information, it would take 82 years.  But, under the
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          2  newest strand of fiber, which is thinner than a

          3  hair, which isn't available to the consumer yet, so

          4  don't get excited, it would take 45 seconds.

          5                 So, we need to keep looking at all

          6  these possibilities for the future.  So, with that,

          7  I think we should call our first witnesses.  So,

          8  we're going to call members of Con Edison, both John

          9  Banks and George Jee.  Thank you.  Go ahead. Thank

         10  you for being here.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  You've been here

         12  before, push the button.  Wake up John, wake up

         13  John.

         14                 MR. BANKS:  It's been a while since

         15  I've done this, so bear with me.  My name is John

         16  Banks and I am the Vice President of Government

         17  Relations for Con Edison.  This morning, I'd like to

         18  enter into the record some testimony by Andrew Wood,

         19  who is the General Manager of Strategic Applications

         20  for Con Edison with regard to smart meter

         21  technology.  Andrew couldn't be here today.  If you

         22  would like, I would turn it over to the Committee

         23  without reading it, but it's a relatively short

         24  statement.  So, if you don't mind, I'd like to go

         25  ahead.
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          2                 Good morning.  I'm John Banks, Vice-

          3  President of Government Relations for Con Edison.  I

          4  appreciate the opportunity to address the Committee

          5  today on smart meter technology.

          6                 There has been much debate and

          7  confusion about what types of information can be

          8  conveyed from an electric or gas meter to a utility

          9  or customer.  AMR, Automatic Meter Reading devices

         10  have varying capabilities.  Chief among them is the

         11  retrieval of traditional energy or demand

         12  information typically used to bill residential and

         13  commercial customers.

         14                 In its simplest implementation, AMR

         15  is an efficient replacement for manual meter reading

         16  process. Sometimes, such simple AMR systems can be

         17  made more intelligent by adding communication layer

         18  above the electric and gas meters that allow for

         19  more frequent reading and support for a variety of

         20  time- sensitive rate structures.  These systems

         21  typically use one way communications and, as such,

         22  have limitations.

         23                 Smart meter technology is most

         24  generally considered to have the ability to record

         25  and report consumption at more frequent intervals
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          2  than the customer's billing cycle. These meters are

          3  generally fully solid state in design, have two way

          4  communications capability and advanced recording

          5  capabilities for non- traditional meter reading

          6  data, i.e., voltage, current power quality.

          7                 Some definitions expand beyond this

          8  to include the ability for the meter to communicate

          9  more intimately with customer's appliances and

         10  provide price signals via home display or solid

         11  state thermostats.

         12                 In 2003, Con Edison received approval

         13  from the Public Service Commission, PSC, to pilot

         14  test AMR devices in the Peekskill meter reading

         15  branch in Westchester County.  Peekskill has 64,000

         16  customers, 64,000 electric and 30,000 gas meters.

         17  The pilot test began in January, 2003, and concluded

         18  in April, 2004. Based on the successful

         19  implementation of AMR technology in Peekskill, a

         20  staged continuation of AMR deployment was presented

         21  to the Public Service Commission in the last

         22  electric rate case.  In May, 2006, we continued the

         23  program to install AMR devices in the remainder of

         24  Westchester.

         25                 The Rye area is the first stage of
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          2  the expansion and will include 200,000 meters;

          3  120,000 electric and 80,000 gas meters.  Completion

          4  of Rye is scheduled for December 31, 2007. Mount

          5  Vernon and Yonkers meter reading areas represent

          6  stages two and three of the AMR deployment in

          7  Westchester County.  Both areas are roughly

          8  equivalent in size, each having approximately

          9  155,000 meters, 90,000 gas and 60,000, excuse me,

         10  90,000 electric and 65,000 gas.  The projected

         11  duration of each subsequent stage is one year.  By

         12  December 31, 2009, all of Westchester County 600,000

         13  electric and gas meters will have been replaced or

         14  retrofitted with AMR technology.

         15                 Going forward, we continue to

         16  evaluate, identify, evaluate and strategically

         17  deploy AMR type meters for locations within our

         18  service territory that are difficult, dangerous or

         19  simply too costly to read manually.  We also

         20  continue to use the AMR technology where existing

         21  older style, obsolete, remote meter equipment has

         22  failed.

         23                 In August of 2006, as noted by Chair

         24  Brewer, the PSC issued an order to all New York

         25  State utilities to file by February of 2007, a plan
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          2  for deployment, development and deployment to the

          3  extent feasible and, more importantly, cost

          4  effective of an advanced electric metering system.

          5                 The advanced metering system includes

          6  metering systems capable of recording and reporting

          7  consumption and other measurement at more frequent

          8  intervals than the consumer's billing cycle and may

          9  encompass several different components, including:

         10  Meters, communications technology, automatic meter

         11  reading systems and data warehouses, in order to

         12  cover the deployment and development of the advanced

         13  gas metering system. Con Edison will comply with

         14  this order and issue a detailed report that

         15  summarizes our analysis.

         16                 Now I'd like to ask George Jee to go

         17  ahead and read his opening statement about BPL.

         18                 MR. JEE:  Good morning Chairpersons

         19  Brewer and Comrie and Committee Members.  My name is

         20  George Jee.  I'm the Director of Resource Planning

         21  for Con Edison.  I appreciate the opportunity to

         22  address the Committee today on Con Edison's

         23  activities with broadband over power line or more

         24  commonly known as BPL.

         25                 Before I describe the BPL pilots Con
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          2  Edison has undertaken, let me first take a moment to

          3  brief those who may not be as familiar with

          4  technology as to what it is.

          5                 BPL is the coexistence of high

          6  frequency data signals and low frequency power

          7  signals on the same medium, in this case, power

          8  lines.  BPL utilizes the medium and low voltage

          9  lines to deliver data signals and content to

         10  electric sockets of the consumers' premises and,

         11  essentially, BPL could be employed to establish, we

         12  call it communications highway, utilizing electric

         13  lines as a pass to deliver information and content.

         14  BPL typically operates in the range of two to 50

         15  megahertz.

         16                 BPL system components include:

         17  Electric lines, coupling devices, concentrating

         18  units or could be called head ends, repeating units,

         19  as well as network termination units or customer

         20  gateways, as Council, as Chairman Brewer mentioned,

         21  customer modems.

         22                 Con Edison has been active in this

         23  area since 2001, in partnership with Ambient

         24  Corporation out of Newton, Massachusetts.  We were

         25  one of the first in the United States to deliver
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          2  Internet content over a distance of one mile on

          3  medium volt, on a medium voltage power line back in

          4  July of 2002.

          5                 However, Con Edison's interest and

          6  focus has been to advance BPL technology for utility

          7  applications.  Our objectives have also been to

          8  assess the potential, to enhance system reliability

          9  and reduce costs to electric customers, shape the

         10  equipment design standards to ensure safety and

         11  facilitate integration and ensure there is no

         12  adverse impact on electric operations.

         13                 Con Edison has initiated three pilots

         14  and is anticipating one other.  Our first pilot was

         15  in Briarcliff Manor in Westchester and has been up

         16  and running since July 2002.  BPL has been deployed

         17  on two four- kv circuits, spanning about four

         18  circuit miles, with the furthest point being about a

         19  mile from the head end unit.

         20                 There have been five active

         21  participants receiving Internet, with about 700

         22  customers passed between these two circuits.  One of

         23  the participants was a local police station, before

         24  they relocated to a new location, station.  Our

         25  Briarcliff pilot location has and continues to serve
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          2  as a test site for advancing BPL technology.  We

          3  have demonstrated load control, meter reading,

          4  system monitoring, video surveillance and outage

          5  detection via BPL, as well as adapting this

          6  technology for underground use and developing the

          7  required network management systems software

          8  required.

          9                 We are currently engaged in a

         10  research project in part funded by NYSERDA, to

         11  utilize BPL to detect and locate incipient faults

         12  via electrical signatures created prior to failure.

         13  At the same time, we hope to capture the traits of a

         14  healthy circuit and utilize it as a means of

         15  proactive system management.

         16                 We have hosted and shared our

         17  knowledge of BPL with a number of interested

         18  parties, including utilities, both domestic and

         19  abroad, equipment manufacturers, Internet service

         20  providers, the investment community, state agencies,

         21  as well as NYSERDA, PSC Commissioners and staff, the

         22  Office of the, of New York State Chief Information

         23  Officer and the Department of Transportation, as

         24  well as through technical publications and

         25  participation at industry committees and forums.
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          2                 We also have another BPL project at

          3  Orange and Rockland Utilities, which established an

          4  end- to- end connectivity between the Orange and

          5  Rockland Spring Valley office and the Monsey 13- kv

          6  Substation that's about a mile and a half away. This

          7  application is a wireless and BPL demonstration for

          8  substation telemetry, such as circuit breaker and

          9  alarm status, voltage and current readings and

         10  security surveillance.

         11                 BPL was utilized in November of 2004

         12  as a means of communications and system monitoring

         13  in our First Ave Steam Tunnel.  This steam tunnel is

         14  4,100 feet long and is located about a hundred feet

         15  below the grade.  BPL runs the length of the tunnel

         16  and is utilized as the communications backbone to

         17  support remote terminal units devices such as air

         18  and pipe temperature, humidity, sump level, internal

         19  phones within the tunnel, telephony to external

         20  locations and security video.  The use of BPL has

         21  greatly simplified the wiring of various services

         22  that need to be provided.

         23                 We've also participated with Ambient

         24  EarthLink to implement a BPL pilot in a 17- story,

         25  213- unit condominium building on the Upper West
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          2  Side in Manhattan.  This application utilizes the

          3  building's existing wiring to deliver Internet

          4  content, data and telephony.  Con Edison's

          5  involvement in this pilot was to demonstrate load

          6  control of residential cooling appliances.  As with

          7  our Briarcliff Manor pilot, we have hosted and

          8  shared our knowledge with a number of interested

          9  parties, including the New York City Housing

         10  Authority, the New York City Economic Development

         11  Corporation and the New York City, the New York

         12  State Office of the Attorney General.

         13                 While we believe this is a very

         14  promising technology, there are still a number, some

         15  challenges to be addressed.  One very fundamental

         16  technological challenge is that the electric system

         17  was not designed with BPL in mind.  This technology

         18  is still evolving and more development and testing

         19  is required, especially if it is to be adapted to

         20  the complex underground networks in urban

         21  environment.

         22                 There is, there are coexistent issue,

         23  such as integration of BPL into the electric grid,

         24  system security, BPL access versus in- premise

         25  issues to resolve before it can commonly be
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          2  employed.

          3                 Compliance and standardization of BPL

          4  equipment is another challenge that needs to be

          5  addressed and given this application over utility

          6  lines, regulatory treatment is also a major factor

          7  that needs to be resolved.

          8                 Finally, there are competing

          9  technologies that need to be considered, thus,

         10  economic considerations come into play as well.

         11                 Thank you for your time and

         12  opportunity to share with you our activities and

         13  views on broadband over power line.

         14                 MR. BANKS:  Madam Chair, Mr. Chair,

         15  if I may beg your indulgence for a second.  The

         16  testimony that I read about the smart meters is

         17  submitted in lieu of Andy Wood's ability to be here

         18  today.  So, if we could limit the questions

         19  particularly to the BPL stuff.  I'll try to answer

         20  some general smart meter questions that you may

         21  have, but I'm not the expert and don't want to give

         22  you incorrect information.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  We've been

         24  joined and will be rejoined soon by Council Member

         25  Oliver Koppell, as he left his glasses here, so I
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          2  know he'll be back.  I want to thank you both for

          3  coming this morning and testifying.  So, you're

          4  saying that you kind of want us to stay away from

          5  smart meter.  Let me just ask you a general

          6  question.  You've been doing a test in the Peekskill

          7  area since 2003, is it possible that you could give

          8  us detailed assessment of the test so far with the

          9  smart meters?

         10                 MR. BANKS:  We certainly would be

         11  able to get back to you with the detail assessment

         12  of it.  The, it should be noted that the AMR

         13  technology we use there is very different than some

         14  of the things that other folks talk about.  We

         15  install an automatic meter reading device in a

         16  private home and then we, in order to gather that

         17  information, we have a vehicle that rides down the

         18  street and picks up those signals.  It's very

         19  different than some of the other technologies that

         20  folks are talking about. But, we'll be glad to get

         21  back to you with a detailed assessment of the

         22  Peekskill test and an update on where we are with

         23  the rest of our installations in Westchester.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  But, primarily,

         25  those are AMR type meters that you're putting in
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          2  difficult locations, locations that could be read

          3  from a passing vehicle?

          4                 MR. BANKS:  That's exactly the

          5  technology we use. We don't use this, a hard- wired

          6  system where you would have to build a second

          7  network of infrastructure so that the meter can

          8  communicate with the hostess of, that's not what we

          9  are doing up in Westchester.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Okay, all right,

         11  thank you. But, so you haven't tried to use that

         12  technology in any other test, the second technology,

         13  the hard wire?

         14                 MR. BANKS:  No.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Didn't the PSC

         16  put out an opportunity to utilize that technology

         17  this summer?

         18                 MR. BANKS:  This summer they asked us

         19  to go and review and do an analysis on the use of

         20  the technology, which we will provide at a report to

         21  the PSC later on, I believe it's December of 2007.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Okay, thank you.

         23    Just on the BPL technology, normal cable megahertz

         24  is what? Ten to 100 megahertz and you're saying that

         25  this would run, BPL typically operates in a two to
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          2  50 megahertz range?

          3                 MR. JEE:  No.  I'm talking about the

          4  frequency range that BPL utilizes  --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Okay.

          6                 MR. JEE:  --  Not the speed, if

          7  that's what you're referring to.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Right.  You said

          9  that you've also been doing pilots since 2002,

         10  primarily.  Do you have a detailed assessment that

         11  you could give to the Committee, so that we could

         12  take a look at it?

         13                 MR. JEE:  Yeah, we, I, we had

         14  published a paper in I Triple E Communications

         15  magazine back in 2003  --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Okay.

         17                 MR. JEE:  --  That discusses our

         18  Briarcliff projects.  I could get that to you guys,

         19  if you wish.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Appreciate it.

         21  What is an incipient fault?  You talked about in

         22  your second paragraph, you utilized it in a research

         23  project funded by NYSERDA, to detect and locate

         24  incipient faults.  What is an incipient fault?

         25                 MR. JEE:  Incipient, well, the word
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          2  incipient is, say, before it happens, all right.

          3  Let me give you an example of how we came across

          4  this.  As we were testing out our BPL system, and it

          5  was up and running fine for over a year, with no

          6  issues, suddenly we starting having data

          7  transmission issues with it.  It was intermittent.

          8                 In trying to track down what it was,

          9  we checked all our equipment, we couldn't find it.

         10  The thing is, it varied during the day.  So, it made

         11  it kind of difficult.  But, eventually, we found it

         12  and it turned out to be a dead end arrester, a dead

         13  end insulator that was starting to crack from normal

         14  wear.  So, when it starts developing cracks, it

         15  starts to arc a little bit and the reason why it

         16  varied during the day was due to the moisture in the

         17  air or due to the loading, all right, which caused

         18  it to be intermittent.  But, with knowing that, we

         19  realized that that, and we were able to sort of hone

         20  in on roughly where it is.

         21                 That's the process we're trying to

         22  take advantage of, that if we have what we call

         23  processor boxes out on the poles to deliver

         24  broadband, to deliver BPL, we, by default, have the

         25  system monitoring, it just turned out that way, to
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          2  be able to detect something.

          3                 So, we're trying to take advantage of

          4  that, as well as what I noted is to, you know, look,

          5  it doesn't have to be a problem that we're watching.

          6    What is the signature of a healthy circuit?

          7  There's noise on, typically on a power line to begin

          8  with, but it's expected noise.  You know, can we

          9  sort of, at, during all different types of weather

         10  identify, this is what it behaves like, this is the

         11  signature that we get by default, by using BPL and

         12  can we capture that as an advantage and then maybe

         13  you'd find out, oh something failed yesterday, you

         14  know, finally failed, oh, we would have saw that

         15  already.  That's the idea of incipient fault.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Okay.  So,

         17  that's why you were saying that you're reluctant to

         18  implement the technology because your infrastructure

         19  is aging and it's not able to read those changes or

         20  because of the temperature or ambient temperature

         21  changes, your infrastructure's not going to be able

         22  to adequately pick up the BPL?

         23                 MR. JEE:  No, no, we're trying to

         24  take advantage of the technology in order to do, you

         25  know, be proactive in managing our system.  I mean,
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          2  it's kind of interesting to be able to detect

          3  something before it actually causes a failure.  I

          4  mean, that insulator that I used as an example, no

          5  customer complained about poor service  --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Right.

          7                 MR. JEE:  --  It did not degrade to

          8  that level. So, we would like to be able to get out

          9  there to replace that insulator before you call me

         10  and say I lost power.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  So, the BPL

         12  could give you a better read  --

         13                 MR. JEE:  Yeah.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  --  On your

         15  particular lines and the aging of your lines and the

         16  physical capabilities of your particular lines?

         17                 MR. JEE:  Not necessarily the age of

         18  the lines, but some of the, you know, equipment that

         19  may be failing.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Right.

         21                 MR. JEE:  Potentially failing.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  I'm going to

         23  have to write that down for another meeting.  Okay,

         24  great.

         25                 MR. JEE:  We have a paper on that, if
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          2  you'd like.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Yes, we would

          4  like that, thank you.  So, you're not planning to

          5  participate or compete in the opportunity to do

          6  broadband access?

          7                 MR. BANKS:  No sir.  In fact, we're

          8  precluded from regulatory agencies from doing that?

          9                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Why?

         10                 MR. BANKS:  Because Con Edison is a

         11  regulated utility that provides power.  This is an

         12  information technology, so it's, we would not

         13  develop the technology for use, other than our own

         14  internal use.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Yes, but what

         16  about leasing the lines to other entities to provide

         17  the service?

         18                 MR. BANKS:  It's not a business that

         19  we're in.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  So, you're

         21  regulated differently than Verizon or  --

         22                 MR. BANKS:  Yes.  Verizon is a

         23  telecommunications entity.  We are a power providing

         24  entity.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Okay.
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          2                 MR. BANKS:  So, the  --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  So, your

          4  regulation doesn't allow, right now, for you to even

          5  provide phone service or cable service.

          6                 MR. BANKS:  That's correct.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  So, in order for

          8  you to do BPL, then you would have to work on

          9  changing your regulatory status.

         10                 MR. BANKS:  We wouldn't seek to

         11  change our regulatory status.  It is not our core

         12  business function.  We are developing, and George

         13  can speak to this more firmly, but we are developing

         14  the technology for use on the regulated side of our

         15  business, so that we can provide better service to

         16  our customers.

         17                 MR. JEE:  The, just for some

         18  information, there has been a PSC proceeding on

         19  broadband over power line that they initiated last

         20  year.  It was issued in January.  Just

         21  coincidentally, yesterday, they held an open session

         22  to discuss it further.  The, when they first

         23  initiated the proceeding, they were asking for

         24  comments from a number of interested parties.  I

         25  think 18 participants responded to that, with Con

                                                            32

          1  CONSUMER AFFAIRS AND TECHNOLOGY IN GOVERNMENT

          2  Edison as well. In, the PSC's position, opening

          3  position at the proceeding was really utilities,

          4  because they're regulated, all right, should not be

          5  involved in the competitive business.  All right.

          6                 Yesterday, they, at their proceeding,

          7  they, I think they laid out some, what we call

          8  general principals from this proceeding.  They still

          9  believe you can kind of, you know, utilities,

         10  regulated utilities should not participate in

         11  providing broadband, all right, but they could use

         12  BPL for utility applications.  Our lines  --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Can you detail

         14  what utility applications?  I'm sorry.

         15                 MR. JEE:  Well, we can do system

         16  monitoring, in a way like the incipient fault, that

         17  came as a byproduct, all right, but if you have

         18  sensors out there.  As I mentioned before, I view

         19  BPL as a communications highway.  What you want to

         20  do on the other end is up to you.  You want to

         21  provide broadband, you want to monitor the voltage

         22  currents, temperatures, you know, video

         23  surveillance, that's up to you, as long as you have

         24  the band width to do so.  But, PSC did say that they

         25  prefer third parties who would have access to your
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          2  lines probably provide that service, you know,

          3  broadband over, broadband service.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  So, a third-

          5  party could come in and request permission to access

          6  your lines to provide service content to someone?

          7                 MR. JEE:  Right and they would use

          8  it, that's, I guess, that's called a landlord model

          9  that we would  --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Pardon me?

         11  You've got to speak up.

         12                 MR. JEE:  It's called the landlord

         13  model, which where we would rent our lines, you

         14  know, for a fee.

         15                 MR. BANKS:  And as Mr. Jee indicated,

         16  there are regulatory issues that have not been

         17  worked out and that would need to be worked out in

         18  order for that process to take, move forward and

         19  take place.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  But that's New

         21  York State PSC --

         22                 MR. BANKS:  That's correct.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  --  Because

         24  there other utilities that are providing, in

         25  Ontario, as Council Member Brewer said as an example
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          2  and I think you said in Texas, Council Member? That

          3  are providing broadband service.  So that's just the

          4  New York State PSC's opinion at this particular

          5  time.  Correct?

          6                 MR. JEE:  That's correct.  In fact,

          7  Ambient is working on a project down at Duke in

          8  Charlotte and having met with them because they're

          9  a, they're a fully regulated utility, it's a

         10  different competition down there.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Okay.  We've

         12  been joined by Council Member Tish James from

         13  Brooklyn.  Do you have an idea about the actual cost

         14  of the smart meter, the cost of it to purchase and

         15  to install?  I know you said you didn't have  --

         16                 MR. BANKS:  No, but as Chairman

         17  Brewer reported in her opening statement, that the

         18  price is between $50.00 and $600.00 is in the range

         19  that we've heard as well.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Okay.  I'm going

         21  to refer to my Co- Chair to ask some questions while

         22  I re- think about what you just told me.  Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Thank you very

         24  much.  On the, just one question, John Banks, about

         25  the issues of Westchester. Did people end up saving
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          2  electrical costs?  In other words, did they see

          3  their bills go down or you haven't got a final

          4  analysis?

          5                 MR. BANKS:  We don't have a final

          6  analysis, but, again, the technology that we used in

          7  Westchester wasn't designed for that.  It was

          8  designed to allow us to read the meters remotely as

          9  opposed to anything else.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  So that was the

         11  main purpose.

         12                 MR. BANKS:  Yes.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Okay.  Dare I

         14  said this, but, so union, is there a job loss in

         15  this reading of meters remotely?

         16                 MR. BANKS:  No.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Okay, because

         18  that's something that's been happening with CWA and

         19  Verizon.  That's why I was asking.  In terms of the

         20  issue of broadband over power lines, what is, I

         21  should know this, but if you're talking about two to

         22  50 megahertz range for BPL, how does that compare

         23  with other possibilities, cable, phone and so on?

         24                 MR. JEE:  Again, the two to 50

         25  megahertz is the range in which just the signal  --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  No, I understand

          3  that, but do you have any sense of what it is?

          4                 MR. JEE:  Yeah, I can give you an

          5  example of  --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  For cable or

          7  phone.

          8                 MR. JEE:  Well, cable, I guess is

          9  still different in that the models are different, to

         10  my understanding  --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  They are, I  --

         12                 MR. JEE:  --  In that cable delivers

         13  to like a neighborhood area through fiber and then

         14  it's disbursed through cable from there.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Right.

         16                 MR. JEE:  All right.  So, the homes,

         17  I guess, from my understanding, if cable, as a

         18  consumer, I would probably say three to five and in

         19  some cases I hear ten --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Okay.

         21                 MR. JEE:  --  That can be delivered.

         22  All right. With broadband over power line, as an

         23  example up at Briarcliff Manor, we could deliver,

         24  again, what, say one or two recipients, all right,

         25  because if they both degrade over, as more customers
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          2  come on, but we're getting four megabits at the

          3  socket and when the old technology that was still,

          4  that's still up there today, we are delivering about

          5  15 megabits on the backbone, on the medium voltage

          6  line.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Okay.  I guess

          8  your only urban experiment is the one on the Upper

          9  West Side.  Do you know how that's going?

         10                 MR. JEE:  Yes.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  I should know,

         12  but, from your perspective.

         13                 MR. JEE:  The urban, well, I mean, to

         14  put the urban pilot in perspective first is what

         15  we've been doing at Orange and Rockland and

         16  Briarcliff Manor are access technology, transmitting

         17  it over the power lines, where, medium voltage power

         18  lines  --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Right.

         20                 MR. JEE:  --  Whereas in the high

         21  rise up in the west, the Upper West Side, that's

         22  really an in- building demonstration, where we call

         23  light up the building, you know, provide access, via

         24  power line, there happens to be two risers in that

         25  building  --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Right.

          3                 MR. JEE:  --  Based on the 1980's,

          4  mid- 80's design, which made that building very

          5  easily lit up.  Then we couple our technology to

          6  both risers and each, and each of the floors that

          7  are lit up via power line.  So, that's, is going

          8  fairly well.  There are issues there as well.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Okay, in terms

         10  of just, but the system stays up, it's less

         11  expensive, it's faster?  I mean, that's what I

         12  heard.

         13                 MR. JEE:  Well, it's, I wouldn't

         14  claim it's faster.  It being served, how we're

         15  getting access to ISP is through our Ambient partner

         16  EarthLink in this case.  They have a connection in

         17  the basement that then it goes on to the power lines

         18  from there.  The advantage of power line in the

         19  building is if, say it's an older building that

         20  doesn't have Internet, each socket could be.  All

         21  right, so you would have to re- wire the building in

         22  order to do it.  So that was the purpose of the

         23  demonstration.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Do you think

         25  that that is something that could be applicable
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          2  elsewhere?  I mean, obviously, it has to have the

          3  same kind of building that you just described.

          4                 MR. JEE:  No, it doesn't, it could be

          5  any building, just the technology needs to adapt to

          6  it.  I mean, other people are doing it now.  I think

          7  that has a less of a trouble than delivery.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Can you just

          9  describe a little bit, because I have, you know, we

         10  all have some version of EarthLink, DSL, modems and

         11  so on.  But, how does it actually work in these two

         12  buildings that are Briarcliff in terms of how it

         13  goes through the, how is it actually provided

         14  Internet over the power lines?

         15                 MR. JEE:  There's a number of ways, a

         16  number of models even with broadband over power

         17  line, but I'll tell you what we do  --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Right.

         19                 MR. JEE:  --  And ours, and maybe

         20  it's different from others, is we look at ours as an

         21  end- to- end BPL, and that means I inject a signal

         22  from, you know, a server at one end and then the

         23  customer receives it on the other end, no matter

         24  where he is on the circuit, whereas others may go

         25  partially, they may go wireless  --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Right, yes.

          3                 MR. JEE:  --  To the pole or

          4  something  --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  A hybrid.

          6                 MR. JEE:  A hybrid, like we did in

          7  Orange and Rockland as a demonstration.  At

          8  Briarcliff, we inject a signal using the bands of

          9  two to 50 megahertz onto, in this case the

         10  description of Briarcliff is sort of backwards,

         11  we're working out of a, our substation office.  So,

         12  we're actually injecting the signal onto the service

         13  wire onto the primary wire, which is really

         14  backwards.  In the normal application, you would

         15  find some site outside.  But, we inject the signal

         16  on using an inductive coupler.  There is also

         17  something called a capacitive coupler, it's just a

         18  means of getting the signal on the wire  --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Got it.

         20                 MR. JEE:  --  All right?  We use an

         21  inductive coupler, mainly because it, does not tap

         22  into the line, for reliability purposes.  If you use

         23  a capacitive coupler, which really requires a

         24  physical connection to the line, if that capacitor

         25  were to fail, or that device were to fail, that
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          2  would take out the line as well.

          3                 Whereas, in the case of the inductive

          4  coupler, all right, it induces the signal onto the

          5  line.  This is for overhead.  Then, the wave travels

          6  along the line, okay, to where, to the, down the

          7  end.  Let me put into perspective, when we said 700

          8  customers passed, the example of that would be, say

          9  you have a one mile long line, and I have 100

         10  customers on it and I want to get to ten of them,

         11  okay, maybe in the middle.  At that point, I would

         12  have what you call a note, a service box there,

         13  where we, in our case, we would bypass the

         14  transformer through the inductive coupler into a

         15  processor, then inject the signal back on to, to get

         16  to the customer service wire.

         17                 We do that because transformers,

         18  power transformers are heavily attenuate the signal.

         19    So, we bypass that.  In order to get to that

         20  customer, I have this set up there and, therefore,

         21  we can get right to the customer's sockets via their

         22  service wire.  But, the example is, if I had, I

         23  picked that customer up and say there are usually

         24  seven, sometimes five to then customers on a, per

         25  transformer, all right, I would say I have ten
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          2  customers, but meanwhile if I had rolled out

          3  broadband, but not dropped equipment to pick up

          4  those other customers  --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Right.

          6                 MR. JEE:  --  I would say I had, I

          7  passed 100 customers.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Okay, I see.

          9  You know, there's a big issue in New York, Economic

         10  Development Corporation, which is here, staff- wise,

         11  today is looking to see, we're not Philadelphia,

         12  we're not San Francisco, you know, in terms of the

         13  wireless technology or broadband.  But, the reason I

         14  ask is that, do you see this kind of technology

         15  contributing to the access for New Yorkers in terms

         16  of these, you know, the Internet?  Obviously, I know

         17  that you might have to change some of the way in

         18  which your conceived of, obviously selling some of

         19  your lines.  In other words, we're trying, as a

         20  City, to be more responsive to the new technology

         21  needs.  Do you see broadband over power lines as a

         22  way to be part of this, you know hybrid?

         23                 MR. JEE:  It could be.  Let me first

         24  correct, we wouldn't be selling our lines, we'd be

         25  leasing them  --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Leasing them,

          3  excuse me.

          4                 MR. JEE:  --  All right?

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Leasing.

          6                 MR. JEE:  Right.  Yes, just why we're

          7  involved is, you know, for our own benefits too, why

          8  we're involved in this endeavor.  The difference in

          9  the City, I mean, this is what, I think, sets us

         10  apart from others, when you hear about other

         11  demonstrations everywhere, yeah, with the,

         12  Briarcliff is probably an example of the

         13  demonstrations you're hearing everywhere else.

         14  Although they may be more aggressive in rolling out

         15  because of the regulatory environment.

         16                 For us, in the City, where if we have

         17  like, our one- third of our customers, all right,

         18  they're all, they're all provided service via cable,

         19  underground.  That's becoming a very difficult

         20  environment to work with in both technically and

         21  just physically.  Cables tend to heavily attenuate

         22  your signal.  So you won't go that far without

         23  repeaters, unless new technology comes out, which

         24  every day it does.

         25                 But, also, to adapt it to an urban
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          2  environment unlike underground system they may refer

          3  to in other areas, underground system in other areas

          4  is what we call underground residential network,

          5  where you have a transformer sitting on a pad

          6  usually and then it goes underground to the homes.

          7  Whereas, here, you're talking about going into a

          8  manhole  --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Right.

         10                 MR. JEE:  --  That floods, all right,

         11  and is protected, you know, for that moisture with

         12  heavy insulation on the cable.  So, just injecting

         13  the signal onto the wire, you know, unlike what you

         14  do in the overhead, it could be a challenge.  That's

         15  the type of things we're looking into because

         16  there's major benefits if we can get passed that.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  This is my

         18  ignorance, but all of New York is underground, as

         19  opposed to the suburbs?

         20                 MR. JEE:  Yeah, I guess, with Staten

         21  Island has overhead, but maybe  --

         22                 MR. BANKS:  Staten Island, some parts

         23  of the Bronx, some parts of Queens have overhead

         24  systems.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  I'm just trying
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          2  to think in places where it's more like Briarcliff

          3  like in Council Member Comrie's district, that would

          4  be some place to look at.

          5                 MR. BANKS  But even the overhead

          6  system in Con Edison is different than an overhead

          7  system in other parts of the country.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  More

          9  complicated.  Okay.  So, those are some obstacles to

         10  trying to do what we're talking about --

         11                 MR. JEE:  Right.

         12                 MR. BANKS:  That's correct.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  --  In other

         14  places.  That's one of the issues.  So, are there,

         15  so those, are there any kind of service providers,

         16  obviously you're working with Ambient, but are there

         17  others that have expressed interest in this leasing?

         18                 MR. JEE:  No one has approached us,

         19  that I'm aware of.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  All right.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  You talked about

         22  the fact that because of your regulatory boundaries

         23  set by PSC, that you couldn't deploy a BPL system

         24  that would provide broadband technology.  But, I was

         25  unclear on the possibility of a third party provider
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          2  that had the capabilities of utilizing your power

          3  lines to provide broadband technology.  Could they,

          4  wouldn't they have to ask you for permission to use

          5  the lines or can they develop that in and of

          6  themselves?

          7                 MR. JEE:  No, through the PSC Section

          8  70, they have a right to access our lines.  So  --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Without your

         10  permission?

         11                 MR. JEE:  No, no, that's through

         12  Section 70.  PSC has to approve it and therefore, in

         13  fact, it may be helpful to look at PSC session, I

         14  guess, notes that they published yesterday, it

         15  actually addresses a lot of these issues  --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Okay.

         17                 MR. JEE:  --  All right, that you

         18  really, I mean, our concern, that's why we were

         19  interested to begin with, hey, there's a new,

         20  there's a new technology coming out here, this is

         21  back five years ago, that, you know, that ties into

         22  our lines, is this safe?  That's why we were heavily

         23  involved in it, in shaping the design of the

         24  equipment with Ambient as well.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Okay.
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          2                 MR. BANKS:  So, to answer your

          3  question a little bit more succinctly, they would

          4  have to come to Con Edison and then the PSC would

          5  have to approve whatever proposal they would like to

          6  do.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  And would they

          8  have to pay you a rental or a maintenance fee?

          9                 MR. BANKS:  Absolutely.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Okay.  Your BPL

         11  pilot that you're doing in the First Avenue Steam

         12  Tunnel is providing actually the whole breath of

         13  opportunities that could BPL be utilized.  How is

         14  that holding up?  Is that functioning at a high rate

         15  of efficiency?

         16                 MR. JEE:  I have not gotten any calls

         17  ever since we installed it.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Pardon me?

         19                 MR. JEE:  I have not gotten any calls

         20  for service --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Okay.

         22                 MR. JEE:  --  Since it's been

         23  installed in November.

         24                 MR. BANKS:  Yeah, it's probably about

         25  a year and a half now, two years.
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          2                 MR. JEE:  Well, it was November of

          3   '04.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  November of

          5   '04.  It's doing the phones and the security and

          6  the external stuff and?  Okay.

          7                 MR. BANKS:  Chairman Comrie, just for

          8  point of clarification that, that Steam Tunnel is

          9  very different than the rest of our infrastructure.

         10  It's a dedicated tunnel, it's a hundred feet

         11  underground.  So, it's not subject to the same

         12  environmental issues that regular distribution of

         13  primary infrastructure is, so it may not be

         14  appropriate to draw exact parallels, but it is

         15  working and it's working well.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  But you are

         17  working, like you said, with Ambient to be aware of

         18  the technology and the implementation of technology

         19  and try to shape the technology to allow BPL to be

         20  more user- friendly in the future, correct?

         21                 MR. JEE:  Yes.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  And you could

         23  see a future where BPL could be used in consistent

         24  and a safe and non problematic integration with your

         25  system?
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          2                 MR. JEE:  Yes, we see promise in

          3  this, but the safety and other design issues doesn't

          4  come by accident.  You have to  --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  And you're

          6  looking at the other counties and municipalities

          7  that are providing BPL as a template for a possible

          8  similar integration?  I'm still confused as to why

          9  kind of this system is so much more complicated

         10  other than the physical size than other systems like

         11  Ontario or Texas or Philly, where they're doing the

         12  BPL.

         13                 MR. BANKS:  As a non- engineer, let

         14  me try to see, Con Edison has a network system,

         15  which means there are multiple paths to the end

         16  user.  That is different than an overhead

         17  traditional, which is a radial system, which has a

         18  single path. The presence of transformers and other

         19  equipment on the network, which makes it a much more

         20  reliable system than the radial system also offers

         21  challenges to the provision of BPL because of all

         22  the extra equipment.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  So, because of

         24  all of the multiple pathways to provide or flip

         25  service without interruptions to the customer  --
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          2                 MR. BANKS:  Exactly.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  --  You're

          4  saying that the BPL signal might get interrupted in

          5  one of those shiftings.

          6                 MR. JEE:  Yeah, it would get heavily

          7  attenuated.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Heavily

          9  attenuated?

         10                 MR. JEE:  Attenuated, right.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  What does that

         12  mean then?

         13                 MR. JEE:  It would lose a lot of

         14  signal strength and you would have to boost it up

         15  again.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  I haven't been

         17  in science class in a million, and engineering class

         18  I stayed away from, so.

         19                 MR. BANKS:  Me too.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Okay.  I don't

         21  have any other questions at this particular time.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Just in terms of

         23  the small sample that you have, is there a, what's

         24  the cost to the consumers?  Can you compare it in

         25  terms of BPL in terms of other services per month?
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          2  I know you have this, you know, manhole, underground

          3  complex structure that you described, but when, even

          4  in the examples that you have, what is the actual

          5  mechanism, other than plugging in the Internet to

          6  the outlet?  What else does the customer see that's

          7  different than any other system?

          8                 MR. JEE:  I think, the only thing a

          9  customer would see is just like the, if you have a

         10  cable modem or DSL modem, that just, just like that,

         11  except for it plugs right into the wall.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Okay, so that's

         13  even easier in some cases?

         14                 MR. JEE:  Well  --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Or similar.

         16                 MR. JEE:  Similar.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  How about in

         18  terms of monthly cost?

         19                 MR. JEE:  The cost is not my area,

         20  but I also, I do know some costs, but I won't, I

         21  can't share that with you that's  --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Okay.

         23                 MR. JEE:  --  You know, that's

         24  confidential with Ambient.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Okay, but we can
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          2  find out from customers, I assume, whether it's

          3  different?  I'm talking about just the cost per

          4  customer.  You don't know?

          5                 MR. JEE:  Yeah.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  I mean we know

          7  what we pay for a modem  --

          8                 MR. JEE:  Right.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  --  We know what

         10  we pay for DSL, I just didn't know if it was

         11  different.

         12                 MR. JEE:  Yeah, I --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Is it

         14  comparable, as far as you know?

         15                 MR. JEE:  I, obviously, it would have

         16  to be if to be competitive.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Okay.

         18                 MR. JEE:  All right?

         19                 MR. BANKS:  I think George is

         20  precluded  --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Okay.

         22                 MR. BANKS:  --  From discussing

         23  certain information.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Okay.  The only

         25  other question that I don't understand is the fact
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          2  that you say no other companies have, Ambient,

          3  obviously you're working with, but there are no

          4  other companies that have expressed any interest in

          5  working on this thus far?

          6                 MR. JEE:  Well, with, the question

          7  was with us.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Right.

          9                 MR. JEE:  Or asking to use our wires

         10  to provide it.  It may very well be because they

         11  know we're working with Ambient.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Right, okay.

         13  Also, the fact that is hasn't been, you know,

         14  something that has been as perhaps broadly supported

         15  by larger interests, like in other cities where

         16  there's a bigger push.  Okay.  Thank you very much.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Just one

         18  question my Counsel asked me.  Is it possible for an

         19  individual consumer to install a smart meter system

         20  for their own purposes or do a NYSERDA grant, is

         21  NYSERDA providing any opportunities for individual

         22  consumers to do smart meters?

         23                 MR. BANKS:  I'd like to defer on the

         24  issue of NYSERDA.  I know that an individual

         25  consumer can request, at their cost, a smart meter.
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          2  I'm just not exactly sure of what exact technology

          3  that is or the information that the smart meter will

          4  convey.  But, I know there is, today, the

          5  opportunity for a consumer to request and receive a

          6  smart meter at their own cost.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Just like it's

          8  an opportunity for the consumer to do solar panels

          9  or energy reduction.  Do you provide those

         10  opportunities or  --

         11                 MR. BANKS:  No, we do not.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  --  Direct, do

         13  you direct the consumer to NYSERDA or?

         14                 MR. BANKS:  If someone calls for,

         15  with a question about technologies that are outside

         16  of our business plan, we refer them to NYSERDA.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  But you do

         18  energy assessments for consumers, no?

         19                 MR. BANKS:  No we don't.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  You don't come

         21  in and do an energy assessment for a particular

         22  home?

         23                 MR. BANKS:  No.  We used to, but we

         24  no longer.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Oh, all right,
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          2  okay.  But, who, okay, well, I thought I read or

          3  looked at somewhere that somebody still provides

          4  that service.

          5                 MR. BANKS:  Maybe what you've heard

          6  is that if there's a new building, we will work with

          7  the new building to understand the load that they

          8  want to use, make sure that the equipment that we

          9  need to put into the ground in appropriate. That's

         10  different than I think what you're suggesting, which

         11  is you come in and look and see whether or not

         12  there's opportunities for energy efficiency or other

         13  things,  --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Right.

         15                 MR. BANKS:  --  We don't do the

         16  latter.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  I think they do

         18  it in Long Island.  I know I was at a Long Island

         19  Builder Show not too long ago, because I'm in a

         20  project that I was looking at, but, I thought, so,

         21  all right, I'll have to check on that and get back

         22  to the Committee on that, just for our consumer

         23  point of view. But, a consumer could contact NYSERDA

         24  about  --

         25                 MR. BANKS:  Absolutely.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  All right.

          3  Thank you for coming.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Thank you.

          5                 MR. BANKS:  Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Our next panel

          7  is Mark Williams, Meter Service Providers

          8  Association, Michael Kaplowitz, Legislator,

          9  Westchester County, and Lewis Kwit, Energy

         10  Investment Systems.  Whomever would like to start,

         11  go ahead.  Just introduce yourself.

         12                 MR. KAPLOWITZ:  Absolutely.  Good

         13  morning.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Good morning.

         15                 MR. KAPLOWITZ:  Madam Chair and Mr.

         16  Chairman, ladies and gentlemen.  My name is Michael

         17  Kaplowitz, I'm a colleague of yours in Westchester

         18  County, Chairman of the Budget Appropriations

         19  Committee, fifth term  --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Welcome.

         21                 MR. KAPLOWITZ:  Thank you so much.

         22  And, I've been here before and you're always very

         23  hospitable and I appreciate the opportunity to talk

         24  about smart meters, rather than dumb meters.  I'm

         25  also, as full disclosure, a candidate for the New
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          2  York State Senate and a little busy, so with your

          3  indulgence, after testimony possibly get back  --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Absolutely.  Go

          5  ahead.

          6                 MR. KAPLOWITZ:  --  Get back into the

          7  district, which  --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Go right ahead.

          9  Thank you -

         10                 MR. KAPLOWITZ:  --  I think you

         11  certainly understand.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  --  For being

         13  here today.

         14                 MR. KAPLOWITZ:  I serve on the

         15  environment and energy committee, have worked with

         16  Mark Williams and some others to understand this,

         17  understand this technology.  You should have in

         18  front of you or will be getting a copy of the

         19  Resolution of the Westchester County Legislature

         20  passed, Resolution 194- 2005. The point of it is to

         21  real time pricing and to smart electric meters.  We

         22  understand, as you understand, the value.

         23                 As I analogize to constituents all

         24  the time, if you knew that gasoline on the way home

         25  was $9.00 a gallon at 5:00, but if you waited until
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          2  9:00 at night and it fell to $2.00 per gallon, would

          3  you wait until 9:00 at night to buy gasoline? The

          4  answer is obvious and yes.  When you look to a pizza

          5  slice and you walk into a pizza parlor and say, I'd

          6  like a slice of pizza, how much is it? And the

          7  gentleman says, don't worry about it, I'll send you

          8  a bill next month, and then you wind up finding out

          9  that the slice of pizza cost you $37.00, you're

         10  probably not going to go back to that institution.

         11                 We're in an environment where the

         12  consumers really don't know both what the real time

         13  price is, as they go forward and buy it, and they

         14  have no way, from an accountability standpoint, to

         15  really wade through the information to make smart

         16  consumer choices.

         17                 California experienced 2,500 homes,

         18  very small, but they saved 27 percent utilizing

         19  smart electric meters and the parallel, and it's

         20  ironic that the gentleman from Con Edison had his

         21  phone going off with that old time ring, I have that

         22  as well and very much appreciate that, the parallel

         23  is to the telephone deregulation, where, with

         24  choice, with opportunity  --  imagine the old days,

         25  you used to be able to get your telephone in any
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          2  color, as long as it came in black and it could be

          3  anywhere in the home, as long as it came out of the

          4  wall with that long, that big, very thick cord, and

          5  sat in one location.

          6                 We need to give the same choice and

          7  the State Legislature hasn't really figured out how

          8  deregulation works. This is an opportunity to really

          9  knock down those doors and to serve our constituents

         10  and to let the consumers decide, on an educated

         11  basis, kind of like some retailer in clothing, give

         12  them a chance to, to have these decisions on their

         13  own.

         14                 Real time pricing, an AMR automated

         15  meter reading is critical and the legislature that

         16  we, we have resolved in Westchester is four score,

         17  for square in favor of that.

         18                 The experiment that Con Edison has

         19  done in Peekskill and some of the other places in

         20  Westchester County really do not get to the heart of

         21  the matter.  There are three goals, as you know, in

         22  these, in this whole process.

         23                 The first is automated meter reading.

         24    People really don't want, at least up in

         25  Westchester, to have to be home when the meter
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          2  reader comes.  That's fine.

          3                 The second part is an outage, that

          4  when that, the outage occurs in a particular home

          5  and we've had, unfortunately, a plethora of outages

          6  of late.  We're getting unprecedented storms on a

          7  quarterly basis now.  The outage can be reported

          8  automatically.

          9                 At least in Westchester, and I don't

         10  know your experience, but at least in Westchester,

         11  to know what's out instantaneously without people

         12  having to call it in, we find to be something that

         13  could be of tremendous value.  Gives Con Edison a

         14  chance, frankly, to know that they're looking at and

         15  then to be able to deploy resources at that point.

         16                 But, the last piece, the most

         17  important piece, is the usage data.  Everything

         18  today is data and to turn that silly little round

         19  circle, that goes round and around, all you want to

         20  do is stick a, you know, put a stick in it and stop

         21  it because you see your money going out the window.

         22                 To be able to turn it into some

         23  usable data is so critical.  To have a meter that

         24  shows you usage from green to red and we all know

         25  green is good and red is bad and to have a real time
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          2  price in five minute units, which is available to

          3  the big guys, it should be available to the

          4  residential, to make those decisions, to note that

          5  it goes from six cents per kilowatt hour to maybe

          6  $3.00 per kilowatt hour, no one is aware of that.

          7  You are ladies and gentlemen, we've learned and

          8  others have taught us, to give that power to the

          9  consumer is so critical.

         10                 Then, think of economic development.

         11  Think of what industries can grow to utilize that

         12  data, because all it is is, at that point, a digital

         13  signal and data, you can spawn whole industries in

         14  and of itself and we move to conservation, we move

         15  then to alternative fuels.  We can begin where

         16  people above us perhaps really haven't given us the

         17  chance to come up with a real energy policy.  Now,

         18  we have the chance to really make a difference and

         19  we do it in the best way.  We do it with consumers,

         20  in their homes, with their pocketbooks.  That's,

         21  when you get onto that side, it's wonderful.

         22                 The environment benefits, because

         23  that peaking facility does not turn on at 4:00 on

         24  July 24th because it's too expensive and you do

         25  something novel.  Kids, turn the computers off and
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          2  go outside and play.  That's a concept that

          3  Westchester's still working on, but, you know what?

          4  It has some value.

          5                 The environment benefits, the

          6  consumer benefits and finally, like in the old days

          7  with the telephone, if a consumer liked Ma Bell and

          8  liked their black phone as long as it came in that

          9  color sitting in the corner, they got to keep it.

         10  This is something, in its best design, is a

         11  voluntary decision. But, even with that, everybody

         12  benefits because those who participate have savings,

         13  but the marginal savings occur because the cost of

         14  electricity is at that marginal price, everybody,

         15  despite themselves, would see a percentage

         16  reduction.

         17                 Westchester had, through NYSERDA and

         18  Con Edison, a very small pilot, perhaps you're aware

         19  of it.  It really was a very crude type pilot, but

         20  there were some real cost savings.  It was done

         21  where you only had, I believe, four price, pricing

         22  during the day.  You had to get on the Internet the

         23  night before and they made it as difficult as they

         24  could make it.  But, you had between $43.00 and

         25  $63.00 per year of savings.  One gentleman even had
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          2  $390.00 of savings.  There's some real opportunity

          3  here. People are crying out for this.

          4                 Be careful of a closed technology and

          5  these gentlemen are far more expert than I.  I am a

          6  mere county legislator, okay, I, too, didn't do very

          7  well.  I didn't take engineering and pre- med for

          8  about two, two minutes.  But, I understand that the

          9  BPL, the broadband over power line versus a wi- fi

         10  just doesn't provide the, the track, the railroad

         11  track that we want to go down, because there's an

         12  investment.  Once you decide that it's proprietary

         13  and the tracks have to be this far apart and do not

         14  allow for any flexibility, you're tying everything

         15  into that technology.

         16                 We understand why Con Ed wants, it's,

         17  frankly goes to the bottom line, but your ability,

         18  my decision, the state legislature, has the ability

         19  on behalf of everyone, to decide public policy at a

         20  higher level, beyond the proprietary of a single

         21  entity.  So, you have that charge, no pun intended,

         22  but you also have that opportunity to do that.

         23                 Look forwarding to working with you.

         24  Your Resolution is great.  Obviously, the landscape

         25  is different in terms of your homeowners in
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          2  apartments.  We don't have the same surface area, we

          3  have a different surface area than you do, but the

          4  concept is exactly the same.

          5                 Just for the record, I have no

          6  proprietary interest in this technology.  I'm a

          7  certified financial planner. I do not recommend to

          8  clients to buy this technology.  I have no interest

          9  except that it's right for, as I see it, the

         10  consumer, right the environment and it's right for

         11  now.

         12                 Unless we stop Con Edison from going

         13  down that narrow track and just putting in a narrow

         14  BPL, narrow smart meter, it, we're not going to be

         15  served.  We asked Con Edison the same question, many

         16  of the same questions and one was, is this available

         17  to the consumer now and the answer we got, sir, was

         18  exactly the same questions, absolutely available.

         19  Forgive me, but I asked the next question.  I said,

         20  well how many people have taken advantage of it and

         21  the answer was none.  That's pretty telling.  Con

         22  Edison does not want anyone to have this technology

         23  because, to be frank, it goes to their bottom line.

         24  You understand it and we understand it and a self-

         25  serving entity would do that, that's fine.  But, we
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          2  have the opportunity to do something better.

          3                 I would urge you to pass this

          4  Resolution.  It's well draft and, again, it

          5  dovetails to what you're concerned about.  We share

          6  your concern.  I've testified before the Putnam

          7  County Legislature, obviously led this through the

          8  Westchester legislature, hope to take this crusade

          9  on to the New York State Senate, and a shameless

         10  plug for that, and look to doing the right thing for

         11  the consumers and look to work with you, so that we

         12  can, we can bring in real time pricing, we can bring

         13  in real, smart time, smart meters.  Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Thank you.  We

         15  may have a couple of questions, I know your time is

         16  limited.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Just, I

         18  appreciate you coming down today, especially against

         19  your time clock  --

         20                 MR. KAPLOWITZ:  Thank you sir.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  --  And I hope

         22  that you're a democrat, so that, you know, we can

         23  donate to that  --

         24                 MR. KAPLOWITZ:  Sir, with  --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  You're not
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          2  allowed to answer that question.

          3                 MR. KAPLOWITZ:  --  There would be

          4  no, no there would be no other way, sir.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  All right, okay.

          6    So, in Westchester County, you've been able to

          7  replace 300,000 meters, you said, with the newer

          8  technology?  What kind is that exactly?

          9                 MR. KAPLOWITZ:  Absolutely not able

         10  to do that.  I came  --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Oh, not able to

         12  do that.

         13                 MR. KAPLOWITZ:  --  Before the Public

         14  Service Commission.  They have, as of August first,

         15  decided that, in fact, they basically threw it back

         16  to the electric utility companies.

         17                 No, I had gone up there to testify

         18  before staff, passed a series of resolutions, we

         19  were pretty strong, we had open meetings and

         20  hearings and urged them to do the right thing, urged

         21  them to move in this direction, and they punted.

         22  That's disappointing.

         23                 So, Con Edison has the ability now,

         24  as we understand it, under the August first, to move

         25  forward and to put in the, a smarter version of a
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          2  dumb technology.  We're, that fight's not over yet.

          3  So, don't lose out like we are in the process of

          4  losing out.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  I just want to

          6  say thank you for coming and, you know, I don't want

          7  to ask you a lot of questions, only because you have

          8  to go, but you gave us a lot of meat for the grill

          9  so that we can try to work this through and try to

         10  find other ways to make it happen.  Fortunately, you

         11  know, PSC should be replaced in another couple of

         12  months, so we can have a better opportunity to go

         13  down that path and really, hopefully, get some

         14  people that are on PSC that think along the lines

         15  that you do.

         16                 MR. KAPLOWITZ:  The concept of

         17  actually serving the public is something that I

         18  think we will all enjoy come January first.  So, I

         19  thank you very much and you're in good hands for

         20  sure, but I appreciate.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Thank you very

         22  much, Mark Dovason (phonetic) is the best, so I'm

         23  glad that you're working with him.  Just very

         24  quickly, when Con Ed states that they have all these

         25  infrastructure issues, they all can be overcome, do

                                                            68

          1  CONSUMER AFFAIRS AND TECHNOLOGY IN GOVERNMENT

          2  we both agree with that?

          3                 MR. KAPLOWITZ:  Yes.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Also, the PSC is

          5  giving a bit of an opportunity, but the fact that

          6  Con Ed is not taking advantage of it, is that also

          7  what you see there?

          8                 MR. KAPLOWITZ:  Well, scorpions bite,

          9  so they're doing what they're supposed to be doing,

         10  which is putting in their own system.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Right.

         12                 MR. KAPLOWITZ:  Our job is push back

         13  and the Public Service Commission is not doing that,

         14  so that's why your Hearings and you're educating

         15  yourselves and your colleagues and your constituents

         16  and resolving, like we did, and joining up with us.

         17  They don't want us to get together, but when we do,

         18  we speak with one voice and we need to push back on

         19  it and open this up to innovation, open this up to

         20  deregulation, open this up to opportunity, and in

         21  doing so, the consumer wins, the environment wins,

         22  only the big utilities lose and that's fine.

         23  They'll have to compete, you know what? If they want

         24  to win in that environment, let them compete now on

         25  the best technology, then even they will win in the
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          2  end.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Thank you very

          4  much.

          5                 MR. KAPLOWITZ:  Thank you very much.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  And good luck,

          7  good luck.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Chairs, may

          9  I just make a comment, not a question, just to

         10  welcome Legislator Kaplowitz, who I know for many

         11  years and I know he's given great service in

         12  Westchester and we look forward to the future.

         13                 MR. KAPLOWITZ:  Thank you sir.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Good to have

         15  you here. Good of you to come in.

         16                 MR. KAPLOWITZ:  Thank you for your

         17  thoughts.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  We've been

         19  joined by Council Member Simcha Felder, who's been

         20  unusually quiet this morning.  I didn't know you

         21  arrived.  I'm sorry.  Next speaker.

         22                 MR. WILLIAMS:  Thank you Chairman

         23  Brewer, Chairwoman Brewer and Chairman Comrie and

         24  your esteemed colleagues of the New York City

         25  Council.  My name is Mark Williams and I'm hereby to
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          2  testify for the Meter Service Providers Association

          3  of New York, a trade association started by Genergy

          4  Holding, LLC, to advance the dialogue, educate and

          5  advocate for real time pricing and advanced smart

          6  metering for the rate payers of New York State.

          7                 Our testimony here today is not only

          8  to extol the benefits of smart metering, which your

          9  Resolution has detailed extremely well, but to

         10  clarify what is a smart meter, explain what the

         11  Public Service Commission needs to do and quickly,

         12  and to alert you as to why Con Edison and the other

         13  regulated utility companies should not be allowed to

         14  control the process as they have so far to date with

         15  the tacit approval of the Public Service Commission.

         16                 It is hard to get excited about smart

         17  metering when you listen to utility executives and

         18  PSC staff members because they view the meter as

         19  nothing more than a cash register that monitors how

         20  much you use and how much you owe at the end of the

         21  month.  We see it as a nexus to the energy smart

         22  home, a powerful tool to control energy costs and

         23  the precursor to the next wave of energy- saving

         24  technology.

         25                 Smart meters with in- home displays
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          2  have the ability to report usage and cost in real

          3  time, so that rate payers can identify and limit the

          4  expense of excessive and wasteful energy use before

          5  it hits the utility's cash register.

          6                 It gives the rate payers the same

          7  market information that the utility has, the

          8  software to be able to forecast and track their

          9  billing cycles, so that there are no surprises, and

         10  alerts to price spikes due to problems with the

         11  power grid that often have severe cost implications

         12  to consumers when they occur.  Smart metering

         13  provides the answer to the age old question, why is

         14  my bill so high when my usage is the same, and the

         15  data so it doesn't happen again.

         16                 But, in order to make this technology

         17  available to consumers, two issues need to be

         18  addressed by the Public Service Commission.  First

         19  and foremost, the PSC needs to institute a real time

         20  pricing policy for electricity that, for the most

         21  part, uses the New York Independent System Operators

         22  24 hour day ahead and real time locational based

         23  market pricing system, along with a fixed local

         24  utility tariff to compensate the utility for the

         25  transmission and distribution of the commodity.

                                                            72

          1  CONSUMER AFFAIRS AND TECHNOLOGY IN GOVERNMENT

          2                 It should not have to be seasonally

          3  adjusted and should not allow for the monthly

          4  service charge nor the monthly adjustment clause,

          5  which could be eliminated as a result of the market

          6  system.  By doing so, they will have eliminated the

          7  awkward and cumbersome tariff structure that is

          8  currently in place and which is not supportive of

          9  the much needed market based pricing system.

         10                 Secondly, the PSC needs to clear away

         11  all the policy barriers to meter ownership and real

         12  time pricing for the residential market.  In the

         13  commission order mandating RTP for the utility's

         14  largest commercial and industrial customers, the

         15  commission, as in your Resolution, listed all the

         16  benefits of RTP.

         17                 Conversely, however, in the

         18  Competitive Metering Case that was opened to look at

         19  the issue of meter ownership and residential RTP,

         20  staff stated that they saw no reason to extend meter

         21  ownership to those customers below the arbitrary 50

         22  kw demand threshold.  They opposed the removal of

         23  the 50 kw demand threshold, which is preventing

         24  access to the residential market, and stated that

         25  they did not think that the mass market was ready
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          2  for real time pricing and advanced metering, as

          3  their primary reason to justify maintaining the

          4  status quo.

          5                 This lack of urgency on the part of

          6  the Public Service Commission, knowing all too well

          7  the rising cost of energy to rate payers throughout

          8  the state and the adverse impact rising electricity

          9  rates have had on the state's economy is

         10  bewildering.  But, having knowledge and there are

         11  proven, knowledge that there are proven measures,

         12  like implementing smart metering and RTP that would

         13  help consumers reduce consumption and save money is

         14  egregious.

         15                 Finally, let me be clear.  If you

         16  want to achieve all the benefits of your Resolution,

         17  and obtain the many unknown benefits that will be

         18  created as consumers become energy aware, through

         19  devices such as smart meters, then the utilities

         20  cannot continue to control the process, as they, as

         21  has been the case for the last eight years in

         22  Albany, where competitive metering has been an open

         23  proceeding with the PSC.

         24                 The utilities are not in favor of

         25  this technology for one reason, they know it works
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          2  and that by deploying it on a large scale, will have

          3  a negative impact on their profits. Conservation is

          4  inversely proportional to a utility company's bottom

          5  line.  If the PSC allows Con Edison to implement

          6  their plan for advanced metering, rate payers will

          7  end up paying more and receiving very little in the

          8  form of usable information.  It will be an expensive

          9  one size fits all solution that, at the end of the

         10  day, will only benefit Con Ed.

         11                 Imagine if the phone companies were

         12  never forced to give up their control and ownership

         13  of the phone and we still had to rent it from them.

         14  Would we have had the communications explosions we

         15  have experienced over the last 20 years?  But, even

         16  a more pragmatic reason to keep the utility

         17  companies out of the process, at least initially, is

         18  that the regulated utilities cannot compete in a

         19  non- regulated environment and have not done a good

         20  job of maintaining their own assets.

         21                 According to the PSC report on

         22  deregulation of utility generating plants, the

         23  regulated utilities operated their facilities at a

         24  65 percent capacity factor, meaning they were

         25  inoperable 35 percent of the time.  Since their
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          2  forced sale to private companies, the capacity

          3  factor for those same plants in up over 95 percent,

          4  which means rate payers are getting the benefit of

          5  more production out of the existing facilities,

          6  which is a primary reason we have not had to build

          7  new, expensive power plants.

          8                 Locally, Con Edison had a dismal

          9  record as the owner of the Indian Point nuclear

         10  facility, where they experienced a major tube

         11  rupture in the steam generators and their legacy are

         12  the contaminated underground reservoirs recently

         13  discovered due to years of leaking spent fuel pools.

         14                 Their distribution system is a hazard

         15  to the public due to a combination of exploding

         16  manholes and electrified sidewalks, as we have seen

         17  in Westchester County and Queens.  Be it overhead or

         18  underground, the system has not been maintained as

         19  their commercials would have you believe and failed

         20  when we needed them the most.

         21                 So, why would the PSC want to allow

         22  them to collect hundreds of millions of dollars from

         23  the rate payers to implement a new and important

         24  initiative like smart metering?  We don't think they

         25  should and we hope you won't let them do it. Thank
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          2  you.

          3                 MR. KWIT:  Can you hear me?  Okay.

          4  Council Member Brewer and Chairperson Comrie and

          5  Chairperson Brewer, excuse me, and other City

          6  Council people on the Technology in Government and

          7  Consumer Affairs Committee, my name is Lewis Kwit

          8  and I'm an energy, I'm the President of Energy

          9  Investment Systems, a New York City consultant firm

         10  specializing in energy saving implementation

         11  strategies for multi- family buildings.

         12                 In October of 2003, we placed the

         13  first building in the City, a 48- unit cooperative

         14  at 322 Central Park West in Council Member Brewer's

         15  district, on real time pricing.  It was the first in

         16  Con Ed's territory on Rider M of the SC Eight tariff

         17  to purchase energy portion of electricity based on

         18  the hourly pricing of the New York Independent

         19  System Operator's Day Ahead Market, which Mark was

         20  talking about before.  That's what we call real time

         21  pricing here, actually.

         22                 Three other buildings, two in which

         23  leaders of the City's cooperative community live

         24  followed suit.  The leaders, J. Reyes Montblanc,

         25  George Montblanc, President of the HDFC Council and
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          2  Greg Carlson, Director of the Federation of New York

          3  Housing Cooperatives and Condominiums, along with

          4  Peter Funk at 322 Central Park West and others have

          5  also joined together to form the Cooperative

          6  Coalition to Prevent Blackouts. Energy Investment

          7  Systems, my company, serves as the CCPB's technical

          8  consultant.  In this capacity, these buildings

          9  served as guinea pigs to purchase RTP power in the

         10  City and have continued to push the envelope by

         11  forming an aggregation to participate in the ISO's

         12  Installed Capacity Special Case Resources

         13  curtailment incentive program.

         14                 From June in 2004 through June in

         15  2006, EIS conducted a program called Real Time

         16  Pricing Demonstrations for Multifamily Buildings,

         17  which was sponsored by the New York State Energy

         18  Research and Development Authority and the New York

         19  State Department of Public Service.

         20                 The first building at 322 CPW was the

         21  most advanced project and demonstrated

         22  responsiveness to time sensitive rates, which

         23  significantly reduced usage during weekday

         24  afternoons and nights when peaks occur for the

         25  generated portion of the power and its delivery.
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          2  Usage at 322 CPW increased during low priced

          3  periods, corresponding to off- peak periods.

          4                 Without price signals to show the

          5  difference in wholesale prices, residents now pay

          6  the same for power at 3:00 a.m. When wholesale

          7  electricity is inexpensive, as they do at 3:00 p.m.

          8  On a weekday heat wave, when costs are dear and

          9  supply is short.

         10                 The blackout in Queens this past

         11  summer made New Yorkers once again aware of the

         12  reliability limits to the City's electrical system.

         13  Subsequent reports of even more widespread

         14  weaknesses throughout other neighborhoods raised

         15  alarm levels higher.  This event underscored the

         16  need for electricity pricing incentives to stimulate

         17  responses to demand that reduce peak use. Real time

         18  pricing brings the economic law of supply and demand

         19  into the electricity market place to produce

         20  efficiencies and delivery of service and its cost.

         21                 That the blackout happened at a time

         22  of escalating electricity prices added further

         23  injury to insult.  New York residents and small

         24  businesses were rendered helpless by the blackout

         25  that they were helpless to prevent.  As these
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          2  residents who are charged flat rates throughout the

          3  day and evening, they have no price incentive to

          4  reduce usage when demand on the system and market

          5  prices are highest.

          6                 On top of the losses they suffered,

          7  the flat rate structure prevents them from reducing

          8  their costs by reducing demand by shifting usage to

          9  lower demand periods.  A free market and open market

         10  should produce lower prices at times of lower

         11  demand.  Real time pricing accomplishes this

         12  objective.  By adding the element of time into the

         13  electricity equation, residents have the opportunity

         14  to do well by doing good.

         15                 Today, the PSC and Con Edison have

         16  not permitted individually metered apartments or

         17  single family homes to purchase and install interval

         18  meters with automated meter reading capacity.  AMR

         19  is a feature of which the industry calls smart

         20  meters.  Smart meters also allow electricity to be

         21  measured in small time increments to permit hourly

         22  pricing.  This, by the way, is not the system that

         23  Con Ed is putting into Westchester, as Mark and Mr.

         24  Kaplowitz said before.

         25                 Smart meters also allow electricity
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          2  to be measured in small time increments.  The

          3  accepted standard interval for smart meters is a 15

          4  minute period, although some can actually do it in

          5  real time.  AMR allows meters to be read remotely

          6  and, furthermore, allows data to be electronically

          7  communicated, analyzed and evaluated.  These

          8  capacities are used for billing to develop a better

          9  understanding of electric use and to measure

         10  curtailment.

         11                 Curtailment is the conservation and

         12  reduction of electricity during power emergencies or

         13  to prevent power emergencies, what the ISO calls a

         14  curtailment event.  Obviously, if want to reward end

         15  users for using less power when an emergency looms,

         16  you must be capable of seeing how much power was

         17  used before and after on the same day and during

         18  other days when no emergency existed.  If you can't

         19  do that, then you can't reward people for using

         20  less.  You need smart meters to do that.

         21                 The CCPB, the Coop Coalition to

         22  Prevent Blackouts, advocates the implementation of

         23  smart meters for every electricity customer who

         24  wishes to be on a utility rate structure that is

         25  based on the ISO's Day Ahead Market.  We have

                                                            81

          1  CONSUMER AFFAIRS AND TECHNOLOGY IN GOVERNMENT

          2  advocated a master submetering configuration for

          3  apartments which receive bills directly from Con Ed.

          4    Such direct metered service from Con Ed costs

          5  between 15 and 30 percent more than master metered

          6  service that receives what is called a bulk

          7  discount.

          8                 As consumer advocates, the Coalition

          9  favors the master submetering configuration as the

         10  preferred vehicle for time sensitivity for demand

         11  response and, more importantly, participation in

         12  curtailment programs of the ISO.  Because the ISO

         13  provides incentives in 100 kilowatt curtailment

         14  blocks, it would literally take 100 or more

         15  apartments to aggregate, inform about pending

         16  curtailment events and trigger reliable responses.

         17                 While, obviously not impossible to

         18  coordinate, and we know that Mark here and his

         19  people are working on ways to coordinate that with

         20  multiple apartments in various locations, it's

         21  obviously easier if the entire building, with full-

         22  time staff and more curtailable public spaces were

         23  involved.

         24                 Today, there is no administrative

         25  pathway to master and submeter rental buildings that
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          2  are direct metered. This presently means that about

          3  two million households are not able to participate

          4  in RTP electricity pricing structures or ISO

          5  curtailment incentive programs.  As a result, the

          6  only way the publicly spirited residents would be

          7  able to buy RTP- based power, is through an

          8  alternative electricity provider or ESCO and only if

          9  a smart meter were able to be installed for billing.

         10                 Therefore, the existing Resolution's

         11  intent must be satisfied to allow consumers to

         12  impact both the price and reliability of electricity

         13  service.  After all, if a meter doesn't exist to

         14  measure electricity by time, it's axiomatic that no

         15  time- based billing is possible.  Therefore, we

         16  support the Resolution completely.

         17                 Developing an advanced meter

         18  installation and automatic meter reading protocol

         19  that does not cost consumers money up front will

         20  empower consumers to impact the City's electricity

         21  environment.  The benefits of a robust demand

         22  response paradigm are: Less pollution as dependency

         23  on least efficient, most polluting plants is

         24  reduced; lower prices as the most costly plants will

         25  be relied upon less frequently; and stretching the
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          2  impact of new plants to satisfy a greater portion of

          3  existing load.

          4                 I want to depart for a moment from my

          5  written text to also say that the, that now that the

          6  City has the Sustainability Council and  --  I

          7  notice Council Member Gennaro there, hi Jim.  The

          8  Sustainability Council being developed that real

          9  time pricing will actually facilitate the use of

         10  photovoltaic electric energy.  Obviously, if the

         11  price is highest when the sun is out, which it is

         12  during the day, the cost effectiveness of

         13  photovoltaics will be much greater.  The flip side,

         14  of course, is that the price at night would be much

         15  cheaper when the sun isn't down and the

         16  photovoltaics aren't generating power.

         17                 So, looking at that issue is very

         18  fundamental to increasing the, the utility of

         19  alternative resources here that protect the

         20  environment even more and that's why real time

         21  pricing is essential here if we're ever going to

         22  have a sustainable City.

         23                 The City of New York has endorsed

         24  real time pricing for some time.  This Resolution

         25  will allow the PSC to enjoy Council's support to
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          2  promote RTP and demand response at, to the public at

          3  large.  The penetration of advanced meters in New

          4  York State is only one- tenth of one percent,

          5  according to the Federal Energy Regulatory

          6  Commission.  Yet, neighboring Pennsylvania, the

          7  percentage of advanced meters exceeds 52 percent.

          8  One- tenth of one percent?  How much money do we

          9  give NYSERDA every year from the City?  $80 million?

         10    Did they have a blackout in Albany?  I don't think

         11  so.

         12                 One reason New York State is near the

         13  bottom for all states is because we have not yet to,

         14  we have yet to acknowledge that RTP is beneficial

         15  for small utility customers and that these small

         16  utility customers can make a difference in the way

         17  power is supplied and priced for everyone.  That's

         18  the benefit.

         19                 Resolution 425 implicitly recognizes

         20  the growing discretion regarding electricity used

         21  timing of the City's vast residential sector.  We

         22  recommend that the Resolution be enhanced to include

         23  single family homes, by the way, as well as direct

         24  meter departments, which is similarly affected by

         25  the present inability to have advanced utility

                                                            85

          1  CONSUMER AFFAIRS AND TECHNOLOGY IN GOVERNMENT

          2  meters installed for billing.

          3                 The residential sector has the

          4  ability to shift usage from times where electricity

          5  prices are high and supplies are short.  More of us

          6  work at home than ever before and the ability to run

          7  dishwashers, answer e- mails and vacuum the floor

          8  can all be done when electricity is less expensive

          9  and simultaneously its generation is less

         10  deleterious to our environment.

         11                 Once New Yorkers are permitted to

         12  say, by changing electric consumption patterns, they

         13  will figure out the best ways for themselves to

         14  realize the savings and everyone will benefit from

         15  the process.

         16                 Finally, the blackout that plagued

         17  areas in Queens highlights the need for competitive

         18  metering, real time pricing and demand response.

         19  Nobody knows what straw will break the camel's back

         20  to either the supply or delivery of power.  Thus,

         21  RTP is essential to trigger consumer responses when

         22  the threat of power emergencies exists.  Pricing

         23  power, at the same amount throughout the day, is

         24  testimony that the existing consumer electric

         25  pricing system is not conducive to preventing
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          2  blackouts period.  The guys who make up the rates

          3  are asleep at the switch.

          4                 For all the reasons stated above, on

          5  behalf of the Coop Coalition to Prevent Blackouts

          6  and my company, Energy Investment Systems, we

          7  strongly support Resolution 425 and urge its

          8  unanimous approval by the City Council.  Thank you

          9  very much.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Councilman

         11  Gennaro has some questions.  Thank you for coming.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO:  Thank you

         13  Mr. Chairman. I'm sorry that I was late in getting

         14  here.  Thank you.  Lewis, Mark, good to see you.

         15                 MR. KWIT:  Good to see you.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO:  Sorry that I

         17  missed the first part of your testimony and I

         18  apologize if this was covered on early in your

         19  statement, Lewis, and Mark, which I missed your

         20  entire statement.  I've enjoyed sort of talking with

         21  you guys over the years on how this prospect for

         22  smart meters and real time pricing can be advanced.

         23                 I guess my question is, and I

         24  apologize if this was covered, could you explain to

         25  me how a real pilot, how a substantial pilot for
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          2  this could work in New York City, in residential

          3  housing?  If you can just kind of give us the road

          4  map for how that would be accomplished?

          5                 MR. WILLIAMS:  It's great timing.

          6  Out in Brooklyn, I'm not at liberty to give the

          7  facility, but there is a federal housing project out

          8  there, with about 5,000 units. They're not connected

          9  to the Con Edison grid whatsoever.  They provide

         10  their own power, they generate their own power, they

         11  transmit and distribute their own power.

         12                 What's happening now, because nobody

         13  projected the increase in electric usage over the

         14  years when those units were built, they're now

         15  hitting their max capacity of their existing

         16  generating capacity, which leaves them, so they

         17  thought, with two choices.

         18                 The first choice was to obviously

         19  increase their generating capacity, which is very

         20  costly and expensive.  Second choice was to tie into

         21  Con Edison's system, which is even more costly and

         22  more expensive.

         23                 Now, they're looking at a third

         24  choice, which they think is going to solve their

         25  problems and that is they're going to submeter every
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          2  unit.  They're going to submeter every unit. They've

          3  already put out an RFP to do this in a pilot program

          4  of 165 units.

          5                 What their hope is is that first

          6  they're going to get their demand and find out where

          7  their usage and what the patterns of their tenants

          8  are and then they're going, they're going to create

          9  their own rate structure.  So, they're going to

         10  price the power when it's being almost peaked out,

         11  they're going to price that at the highest and

         12  charge their tenants for that cost.

         13                 They believe, based on the studies

         14  and the background that they've done, that that will

         15  lower the usage at those peak demand times, thereby

         16  allowing them not to have to increase their

         17  generating capacity and not to have to tie into the

         18  Con Edison system.  The price point per unit on that

         19  job is about $295.00 a unit to install in the home,

         20  so that the customer can actually see what's going

         21  on and what those prices will be -

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO:  $295.00 to

         23  get  --

         24                 MR. WILLIAMS:  $295.00.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO:  --  This
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          2  smart  --

          3                 MR. WILLIAMS:  Meter  --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO:  --  Meter

          5   --

          6                 MR. WILLIAMS:  Into the home.  It's a

          7  wireless mesh technology.  There's no, other than

          8  wiring into the panel, the main panel, every meter

          9  talks to the meter below it or to the side of it.

         10  There's one central computer down in the basement.

         11  That basement is hooked up to an in- line, you know,

         12  a DSL line, you know, an Internet connection.  That

         13  data then goes over the Internet to an Internet, a

         14  secure Internet, you know, website. The reading and

         15  the billing of those meters is then done through an

         16  outside company for about $5.00 a month going

         17  forward.

         18                 So, the initial cost is $295.00 a

         19  meter point. Their service charge for this service

         20  is five, actually, I'm sorry, $6.00 a meter, which

         21  is half of, which is about half of what Con Edison

         22  charges.  So, the pay back is less than five years

         23  on this project alone.  Then, then there's the

         24  actual savings of their reduced usage that they'll

         25  benefit from.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO:  And this is

          3  user- friendly in that this device is not

          4  complicated for consumers to use?

          5                 MR. WILLIAMS:  It's so user-

          6  friendly, you can actually display little things

          7  saying, there's a meeting, a tenants meeting tonight

          8  at 6:00 p.m. down in the lobby.  That's the kind of

          9  technology we're talking about.

         10                 MR. KWIT:  Yeah, we put that

         11  technology in at Columbus Park, in Gale's district

         12  on 94th Street and Columbus Avenue.  I think that

         13  what you wanted to, one of the, if I understood you

         14  correctly, based on legislation before the Committee

         15  today, you're interested in seeing whether it can

         16  be, whether this technology can be deployed as a

         17  pilot in single family homes  --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO:  Or, yes, I

         19  just  --

         20                 MR. KWIT:  --  And we've done pilots

         21  in apartment buildings already, so.  So, I'm just

         22  curious, I know that it, that we walked around your

         23  district and you  --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO:  Right.

         25                 MR. KWIT:  --  Tower model with Peter
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          2  some years ago with, with Brian White from Golf

          3  Power in Pensacola in Florida.  They have the top

          4  system in the country for demand response and they

          5  said that it was possible but, of course, you'd need

          6  Con Ed agreement  --

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO:  Right.

          8                 MR. KWIT:  --  To be able, and PSE

          9  approval, even on a pilot basis, to put in an

         10  advanced meter in the building and then use the

         11  existing telephone line to share the signal so that

         12  you could read the data remotely.  That, and that

         13  wasn't possible at the time and  --

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO:  Right.

         15                 MR. KWIT:  --  NYSERDA wasn't

         16  interested in us, to see us pursue it, although

         17  Peter tried.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO:  Okay.

         19                 MR. KWIT:  So.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO:  Thank you,

         21  thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  We've been

         23  joined by Council Member Bill de Blasio.  I have a

         24  question, which is, can you, with the smart meters,

         25  plug into any broadband connection?  How does that
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          2  work?

          3                 MR. KWIT:  I don't know.

          4                 MR. WILLIAMS:  I'll tell you.

          5  Broadband over power line is really fast becoming an

          6  obsolete technology.  It's been around a long time,

          7  the concept of it.  As you heard from the gentlemen

          8  from Con Edison, there is just a lot of problems

          9  with it.  Any time that the signal has to be stepped

         10  up or stepped down through transformers, they

         11  haven't solved that issue yet.

         12                 Everybody's going wi- fi.  There's

         13  no, it's non proprietary.  You can, anybody can tap

         14  into it for their own systems.  It's an open

         15  protocol, you know, you know system and it's less

         16  costly to build than your traditional broadband over

         17  power line.  So, for the cost or for less of the

         18  cost, what Con Edison is proposing, you could have

         19  wi- fi in the City that would allow metering and

         20  computers and, you know  --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  We're working on

         22  that.

         23                 MR. KWIT:  We use a wireless system

         24  in the apartment buildings that we've been working

         25  in, for the most part, and it seems to be working
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          2  just fine.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  My other

          4  question is, I know you touched on it, but the idea

          5  of saving power in general, do you think that if we

          6  were to do what you're suggesting, which is a much

          7  more wholesale approach and smart meters in many

          8  different locations, that would reduce the need for

          9  more power plants?

         10                 MR. KWIT:  Yeah, I mean, I have here,

         11  during, during the summer time, in the hot

         12  afternoon, the power needs of the City are literally

         13  twice as much as they are in the winter time during

         14  the same period time.  So, so what they do is they

         15  use these, they use these power plants that are kind

         16  of kept together with spit and paper towels and

         17  chicken wire that are on barges and that use a whole

         18  lot more fuel to generate the same amount of power

         19  as a base load plant, probably twice as much, and

         20  they pollute like crazy.

         21                 So, the ability to get people to know

         22  that power is much more expensive when, at three,

         23  four, five o'clock in the afternoon, more akin to

         24  rush hour, then they would reduce and most people

         25  have a lot more, of the residential sector has a lot
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          2  more discretion.

          3                 I mean, I was home during the

          4  blackout, and, just I, I was home during the

          5  blackout, not the blackout, during the, the Transit

          6  strike last year and I'm usually not around the

          7  building at that time.  But, I went down and saw

          8  that there were a lot of people around and I was

          9  kind of surprised and I asked one of the doormen and

         10  some of the handy people, I said, you know, there

         11  are really a lot of people around, I said, not just

         12  now when the Transit strike was on, but, you know,

         13  ordinarily and he said, Lewis, he says, it's like

         14  Grand Central Station around here.

         15                 So, there's a lot more activity going

         16  on in our apartment buildings in the West Side and

         17  throughout the City than, than we, than we were led

         18  to believe when our parents, for example, had just

         19  very traditional nine to five jobs.  People work

         20  from their homes much more frequently, students are

         21  home, senior citizens are home, domestics are home,

         22  construction is going on in the apartments, et

         23  cetera, et cetera.

         24                 During, at 322 Central Park West,

         25  there were two apartments that were in construction
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          2  during the curtailment event in the beginning of

          3  August and we told them not to use any power tools

          4  and they didn't and the building used 30 percent

          5  less power tracking it for those hours.  So, they

          6  paid people to do this.

          7                 So, the other thing that smart meters

          8  does that we haven't been talking is that in

          9  addition to giving people the opportunity to

         10  actually save, it gives people the opportunity to

         11  earn, because they treat these buildings that can

         12  curtail power when an emergency is looming, as if

         13  they were small power plants sitting out there and

         14  they pay you every month to do that, to stand by the

         15  ready.  Those power plants can come through.  These

         16  buildings can reduce their usage.  We have proven it

         17  with our aggregation of six buildings and

         18  curtailment is the cleanest form of power there is.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Mr. Williams, I

         20  know you touched on this, but regarding our Public

         21  Service Commission, what exactly would PSC have to

         22  do in order to accomplish what I think we all want,

         23  which is the smart metering?

         24                 MR. WILLIAMS:  They would have to,

         25  again, it's a two- pronged approach.  You need them
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          2  both.  It's the chicken or the egg, you need them

          3  both at the same time.  You need a tariff structure

          4  or a rate structure that would allow for real time

          5  pricing.  Again, to clean up the current tariff

          6  system would, which is very archaic, I mean, the

          7  leaf, the tariff leafs, it would fill up volumes and

          8  I don't know anybody who really can truly say they

          9  understand how to read them.  They're very

         10  complicated.

         11                 That said, to clean all that up, you

         12  would, you would, there's a market right now, the

         13  utility companies and the generators and the

         14  independent power producers, they buy and they sell

         15  their power on the Day Ahead Market.  You can look

         16  on the NYSERDA website and find out what every hour

         17  of the day the electricity is going to cost as of

         18  about 11:00 this morning for tomorrow.

         19                 So, you look at the utility and you

         20  say, look, you know, here's your transmission

         21  distribution costs, here's your capital that you

         22  need to get your rate of, return on investment and

         23  say this is what we're going to give you, this is

         24  reasonable and here's your profit margin for doing

         25  all the things that maybe we can't deregulate.
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          2                 That said, that becomes the, your

          3  pricing, that becomes your, you know, with all your

          4  fees tacked on.  So, they need to come up with a

          5  simplified rate structure.

          6                 Then, the second thing they need to

          7  do is to eliminate the 50 kw demand threshold.

          8  Right now, they institute a real time pricing for

          9  the utility's largest customers, above 50 kw demand

         10  threshold.  No residential customer right now uses

         11  that amount of electricity, so they've been frozen

         12  out.  They need to just get rid of that and allow

         13  meter service providers that are certified by the

         14  PSC and meter data service providers to start

         15  providing these essential services to those

         16  customers.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Thank you very

         18  much.

         19                 MR. WILLIAMS:  Thank you.

         20                 MR. KWIT:  Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  The next panel

         22  is Jim Mollenkopf, Current Technologies, Francis

         23  Fallon, ARRL Hudson Division Director, Mike Lisenco,

         24  ARRL Direct Emergency Coordinator and Kayza Kleinman

         25  from NonProfit HelpDesk.  Go ahead, whoever would
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          2  like to begin.

          3                 MS. KLEINMAN:  I'll start.  Before I

          4  start, I must apologize.  I didn't realize until too

          5  late that  --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  That's okay,

          7  just go.

          8                 MS. KLEINMAN:  No, it's important.

          9  The second page of my testimony was not properly

         10  collated and the second page is missing.  So, it

         11  will be verbatim, but it's kind of important.  When

         12  I get to it you'll see.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Go ahead.

         14                 MS. KLEINMAN:  Okay.  My name is

         15  Kayza Kleinman. I'm the IT Director of the Jewish

         16  Community Council of Greater Coney Island and

         17  Director of the Nonprofit HelpDesk, which has worked

         18  with close to 500 non- profits in New York City.

         19                 Now, the meetings, obviously we're

         20  discussing both smart meters and broadband over

         21  power lines, but I'm going to focus mostly on

         22  broadband over power lines.  I do believe that

         23  broadband over power lines, along with other

         24  broadband technologies, just so that's clear, can

         25  really make a tremendous difference to the welfare
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          2  of the City.

          3                 Most, for two reasons, one is

          4  economics.  Real competition drives prices down.

          5  Today, and you can look at the pricing, an

          6  organization or individual can purchase broadband

          7  for far less than they could even two years ago.

          8  I'm paying $18.00 a month for my broadband

          9  connection, as opposed to $50.00 a month a year and

         10  a half ago.  I'm actually getting a slightly faster

         11  connection.  I think that kind of change is very,

         12  very significant.  I could go through a lot of

         13  pricing, but anywhere you look, you're going to see

         14  that.

         15                 The main reason for that, obviously,

         16  is because of real competition that drove prices

         17  down.  BPL, I think, has the, is the technology that

         18  has the potential to continue that process because

         19  the infrastructure is, is there, rather it has to be

         20  there, okay.  Sometimes we have problems with it, as

         21  everyone's been pointing out, but we do need

         22  electricity running into people's homes, so that has

         23  to happen regardless of whether we do broadband or

         24  not.

         25                 Therefore, if you have, if you have
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          2  power lines that can safely run power, you can

          3  basically run, you can run broadband.  Yes, I know

          4  there are technical challenges, including the

          5  transformers and all that.  I, they are surmountable

          6  and I'm not saying this is going happen next week,

          7  but it is, I think, a surmountable problem and

          8  something that should be encouraged.

          9                 This is extremely important because

         10  people really need that kind of access.  More and

         11  more government agencies, more and more businesses,

         12  et cetera, are going on- line and the, the examples

         13  are too numerous to list, anything from Access New

         14  York, which is just going on- line now, which is a

         15  service which the New York City Government is

         16  allowing people to figure out what their benefits,

         17  et cetera are, Social Security, IRS, I could go on

         18  and on.  Broadening access to broadband that way, I

         19  think, is an extremely important thing.

         20                 The other thing is redundancy and

         21  this is why I make the point of BPL along with other

         22  technologies, as we have seen in other disasters,

         23  redundancy is extremely important.  The more

         24  different ways we have to keep communications links

         25  up, the better off we are.  So, if we have phone
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          2  lines only, then that's bad.  If we have phone

          3  lines, wi- fi and broadband, we've got three

          4  different ways, one of which may stay up and one of

          5  which may be easier to get up on- line before,

          6  during and after an emergency.

          7                 So, the redundancy is, in my opinion,

          8  an extremely important issue, especially as these,

          9  both Internet connectivity, per se, and

         10  communication, in general, is showing to be, is

         11  becoming a more crucial and integral part of the way

         12  we manage issues.

         13                 Broadband over power line and smart

         14  meters, in my opinion, make a very natural link, by

         15  the way, because I can't think of an easier way to

         16  make sure that your smart meters are talking back to

         17  your, you know, to the, to the facilities, et

         18  cetera, than using the broad, and getting the

         19  information about real time pricing, than using

         20  broadband over power line, although obviously smart

         21  meters can be use, can use phone lines, wi- fi, et

         22  cetera.

         23                 Okay.  But an issue that I see with

         24  smart meters is that even besides the regulatory

         25  issues of the 50 kw limit, technologies like that
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          2  tend to go into the, into the markets, first go into

          3  markets where they're less crucial.  In other words,

          4  people who are the higher economic status, where

          5  they don't feel the difference.  I mean, a couple

          6  hundreds dollars a year to somebody who's making a

          7  six figure salary is just not the same as it is to

          8  somebody who's making $16,000.00 or $20,000.00 a

          9  year.

         10                 Therefore, I think the City really

         11  should be pushing that kind of lower end rollout of

         12  smart meters, look at how it can be done, whether

         13  submetering or whatever it may be, to really push it

         14  out into an economic sector that I think would not

         15  only would it help the environment a lot more,

         16  because you've got more people at the lower end than

         17  at the higher end, but a sector that really will

         18  really, really feel the difference in a way much

         19  more than people at the higher end.  Not that I've

         20  got a problem with the people at the higher end

         21  saving, but I'm saying in terms of real impact, I

         22  think it's a really, it's a really big issue.

         23                 This, though, requires that the City,

         24  of course, encourage competition.  You know, every,

         25  prior testimony talked about proprietary systems.
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          2  BPL doesn't have to be proprietary, just as other of

          3  independent, independent power providers are

          4  providing power over Con Ed's lines, there's no

          5  reason why BPL can't work the same way.

          6                 Just as, and, you know, we've seen

          7  this happen with telephone service.  You know, in

          8  beginning, oh, it's got to be our way or no way,

          9  whatever.  We've seen it doesn't quite work that

         10  way.  Those challenges can be overcome and the City,

         11  you know, on a local level and, hopefully, on a, you

         12  know, by, a little, you know, pushing at state and

         13  any possible federal levels, you know, should

         14  encourage the non- proprietary format and really

         15  encourage competition, both in, within the BPL

         16  market and in the general broadband market.

         17                 The second issue is, I think, privacy

         18  concerns are going to be a very big issue.  We're

         19  talking about smart meters that are sending all this

         20  information back.  What information are these

         21  facilities and utilities going to be tracking?

         22                 What, you know, I'm not interested in

         23  getting calls, I mean, take something as simple as

         24  telemarketing.  I'm not interested in getting calls

         25  from some telemarketer telling me that we notice
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          2  that you're using, you know, somebody's using a

          3  computer at 2:00 in the morning, do you want, you

          4  know, all that kind of stuff.  The, that's the kind

          5  of extreme, but the privacy implications are very

          6  real and I think do need to be addressed as this

          7  kind of technology, the smarter the technology comes

          8  in, the more those implications needs to be

          9  addressed.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Thank you very

         11  much.

         12                 MR. FALLON:  Okay.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Sorry, one

         14  question.  You said you get broadband service for 18

         15  bucks a month?

         16                 MS. KLEINMAN:  Yeah, Verizon.  It's a

         17  massive, it's a, you know, that's a home line, not

         18  a, not a business line, but until about four months

         19  ago, I was paying $49.00 a month for a, an account

         20  that I started two years ago.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  What rate of

         22  speed are you getting?

         23                 MS. KLEINMAN:  It's their lowest,

         24  it's their lowest rate, but it's actually a better

         25  connection than my old connection, which was about,

                                                            105

          1  CONSUMER AFFAIRS AND TECHNOLOGY IN GOVERNMENT

          2  you know, using two and a half year old technology.

          3  So, I get fewer dropped lines, fewer problems. I'm a

          4  happy camper.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Okay.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Make sure that

          7  the Council Member knows all about NonProfit

          8  HelpDesk.

          9                 MR. FALLON:  Okay, thank you.  Good

         10  morning and I'd like to thank the Council and its

         11  staff for inviting us here today.  My name is Frank

         12  Fallon.  I'm the elected volunteer ARRL Director for

         13  this division, which includes northern New Jersey,

         14  eastern New York up to about Lake George and all of

         15  New York City and Long Island.  We have 140,000

         16  members.  In the Hudson Division there's 8,000.

         17  About 2,000 of those are in New York City.  We

         18  represent licensed amateur radio operators.  We're

         19  the national society for amateur radio.

         20                 We have some strong concerns about

         21  BPL.  We love broadband.  In my prepared statement,

         22  I give you some instances where we've been into new

         23  technology and gadgets.  We're early adapters, so,

         24  we love broadband.  We use it.  I live on Long

         25  Island.  I use Cablevision and I'm very happy with
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          2  it.  I do wish the price were lower though.  That's

          3  for sure.

          4                 Our problem is the frequencies that

          5  we use, that we're licensed to use, and those are

          6  illustrated on the last page of my handout,

          7  specifically the frequencies between two and 30

          8  megahertz, as you heard other representatives here

          9  today explain, that they're operating from two to 50

         10  megahertz.  Actually, they're allowed to operate

         11  from two to 80 megahertz, according to the FCC

         12  Regulations.

         13                 Those systems which operate from 30

         14  to 80 megahertz, we have no trouble with them.

         15  Cincinnati is giving us no trouble and they're

         16  either a combination of wi- fi, a hybrid system or

         17  they're operating in the 30 to 80 megahertz range.

         18                 But, when the BPL modulation is in

         19  the range of two to 30 megahertz, we have real

         20  problems because it takes out our 80, 40, 30, 20,

         21  17, 15, 12 and ten meter bands, which are the bands

         22  that we use, the frequency spectrum that we use to

         23  talk directly to stations in Florida, California,

         24  Canada, South America or the guy 20 miles away or

         25  Europe, the other side of the world.
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          2                 BPL, by its nature, as you've heard

          3  today, is a system which functions because it's able

          4  to radiate a signal from the power line.  We heard

          5  people talking about getting reception, being able

          6  to get smart meter readings from a vehicle that's on

          7  the street.  Well, the problem for us is that when a

          8  BPL system comes into our neighborhood, we lose all

          9  but the very strongest signals on HF.

         10                 Now, I've been to Briarcliff a number

         11  of times. I've been up there with our technical

         12  people who are making tests on the system.  The good

         13  news is that it's a small system.  As they

         14  mentioned, it passes 700 homes, I think the figure

         15  was they have five users, okay.  But, it's a

         16  polluter, it's noisy.  You can hear it.  In fact, I

         17  have a video here.  I'm not going to play it, but

         18  I'm going to leave it with the staff and maybe they

         19  want to reproduce it.  There's two of them.  But, on

         20  this particular one, there's a segment about a

         21  quarter or 30 percent of the way in, which shows

         22  what the interference sounds like to us and gives

         23  you a representation of what we have to put up with.

         24                 The bottom line is that where BPL is

         25  deployed, in the two to 30 megahertz range, we lose
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          2  our ability to communicate effectively on the HF

          3  bands, all right? And that's, that's really the

          4  basis of most of my testimony here.

          5                 I have some recommendations that I'd

          6  like to read into the record.  They're on the final

          7  pages of my presentation here.  We hope that through

          8  what you've heard here today that, number one,

          9  Council Members better understands the limits and

         10  problems that BPL deployment will, in all

         11  likelihood, face in New York City.  It's not a

         12  panacea.  There are some problems and they're

         13  admitted in the, and realized.

         14                 Number two, the Council, we hope that

         15  the Council takes steps in authorizing the

         16  deployment of BPL systems for either smart metering

         17  or Internet access, which protect amateur radio

         18  operators within the five boroughs, so that licensed

         19  FCC radio operators can continue to serve the

         20  community in time of need.

         21                 We strongly advise you to allow,

         22  permit or license only systems that do not use the

         23  two to 30 megahertz frequency spectrum, so as to

         24  avoid conflicts with licensed amateur stations and

         25  others.  Two, that you require that the hardware
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          2  used in any system deployed be notched, at least 45

          3  db on all amateur radio frequencies or bands.

          4                 Now, some of the equipment that's

          5  available currently has the ability to do that.  The

          6  chip sets, the components they use in there, the

          7  programs that they use allow them to do that.  But,

          8  in places like Menassas and, where we've had

          9  problems, and also in Briarcliff, they're not using

         10  that equipment.  They're not using that facility and

         11  we have real interference problems.

         12                 Number three, that you require both

         13  Con Edison and the BPL equipment provider to quickly

         14  and in a timely fashion resolve any frequency

         15  complaints to other licensed radio spectrum users or

         16  services, such as amateur radio.  We've been

         17  complaining in Briarcliff for four years and it's

         18  still not resolved.

         19                 One of the other things that I want

         20  to point out, and I'm deviating again here, sorry.

         21  You mentioned regulations and FCC Regulations.  The

         22  FCC has not really finally come out with the rules

         23  and regs, we feel, because on the sixth of October

         24  or thereabouts, I was at a meeting in my capacity as

         25  a member of the executive committee of our
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          2  organization in Memphis and we voted to authorize

          3  filing a suit in Washington to appeal those

          4  regulations, specifically the Part 15 regulations,

          5  which talk about the level of interference that we

          6  have to withstand.  We decided to hire a high priced

          7  Washington firm to do that.

          8                 So, the procedure, the procedure will

          9  probably take another year or two and if we're

         10  successful, it will mean that the FCC is going to

         11  have to re- look at their, do a rethink on their

         12  regulations and we're hoping that's going to happen.

         13                 Number four, that Con Edison and BPL

         14  equipment providers, that you ask them to use low

         15  poling rates, so as to minimize transmission time

         16  and thus mitigate the potential of long bursts of

         17  interference.  I think someone previous to me

         18  mentioned that they were poled every 15 minutes or

         19  so.  If it's a short burst of data, that's not a

         20  problem.  But, broadband or video transmissions,

         21  which are constant and on all the time, are big

         22  problems.

         23                 So, I'd like to thank you again for

         24  having us here today and just finally say, we're not

         25  against broadband.  We're really against pollution
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          2  of the RF spectrum.  We have no problem with BPL,

          3  provided it's not sending out interfering signals in

          4  the HF spectrum that we use.  Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Thank you.

          6  Next.

          7                 MR. MOLLENKOPF:  My name is Jim

          8  Mollenkopf.  I'm Vice- President of Products and

          9  Architecture from Current Technologies.  Current is

         10  a provider of BPL products and services.  I would

         11  also like to thank Council Members Brewer and Comrie

         12  for their invitation today, to give me an

         13  opportunity to

         14  talk a little bit about BPL technology and what it

         15  can do, not only for end user consumers, for

         16  broadband Internet access, but also, in particular,

         17  what it can do to help electric utilities and

         18  electric utility rate payers address how to make

         19  energy efficiency much more realizable.

         20                 Many of the, in particular, advanced

         21  meters is something that this Committee has

         22  highlighted as a very significant need over, over

         23  BPL, Current, along with TXU Electric Delivery is

         24  rolling out advanced meters today to over two

         25  million homes in the Dallas/Fort Worth area, along

                                                            112

          1  CONSUMER AFFAIRS AND TECHNOLOGY IN GOVERNMENT

          2  with TXU Electric Delivery.  That is, all of those

          3  meters are using BPL technology. That BPL technology

          4  is actually built right into the meter.

          5                 BPL, as many of the witnesses this

          6  morning have talked a little bit about BPL and claim

          7  that perhaps it is not ready for prime time.  I want

          8  to highlight the fact that BPL is ready today.  Many

          9  of the technical challenges, I think, that have

         10  been, that have been listed this morning have

         11  already been surmounted, have already and

         12  demonstrated in actual field experience.

         13                 Current's equipment powers the

         14  largest, the largest BPL deployment in North

         15  America, in Cincinnati.  The deployment in Texas is

         16  by far the largest deployment that has been

         17  announced and is also underway.  It is deploying

         18  commercially.  It is going up in scale and is going

         19  up at very affordable prices.

         20                 In particular, BPL is attractive

         21  because it goes everywhere the electricity goes.  As

         22  some of the witnesses have described, BPL is a very

         23  simple concept.  You simply put communications

         24  equipment out onto the electric utility

         25  infrastructure and, essentially, what that creates
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          2  is everywhere you have electricity, you now have

          3  band width.  That can go down to the end user

          4  consumer.

          5                 For an end user consumer device, you

          6  would, the consumer simply plugs in a device like

          7  this anywhere they would like electricity.  The

          8  electronic innards of this can be put in a variety

          9  of, of meters, displays, anything that you would

         10  want to go ahead and communicate with over the

         11  electricity infrastructure.

         12                 BPL is particularly effective at that

         13  because it provides a broadband signal and it has

         14  sufficient network capacity to allow not just narrow

         15  band uses, but reading once a month, but many of the

         16  advanced capabilities that we've heard this morning

         17  associated with smart metering.  You need the

         18  sufficient network capacity to allow real time

         19  information to be exchanged.  Almost every witness

         20  today has talked about the, how communications is

         21  absolutely critical to smart metering and to

         22  enabling the electricity infrastructure to be much

         23  more advanced.

         24                 I'd also like to highlight, in

         25  particular, that BPL can be done without
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          2  interference.  The Cincinnati network, as Mr. Fallon

          3  pointed out, has been deployed for now, going on

          4  three years, with zero, zero interference

          5  complaints.  Once again, it is, by far, the largest

          6  deployment in North America.  The ARRL has actually

          7  pointed that out, that Current's equipment and

          8  Current's approach is one that should result in

          9  almost no interference complaints.

         10                 We've been able to demonstrate that

         11  in actual practice and we certainly share the ARRL's

         12  concern and we don't want to interfere either.  They

         13  don't want interference; we don't want interference.

         14    We've been able to go ahead and demonstrate that

         15  natural practice.

         16                 MR. FALLON:  My new best buddy,

         17                 MR. MOLLENKOPF:  Amen.  Lastly,

         18  Current Communications is very eager to work with

         19  the City and work with utilities to try to find ways

         20  that we can go ahead and bring this infrastructure

         21  and bring this capability to New York City rate, New

         22  York City electricity rate payers, as well as

         23  broadband consumers.  Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Are you aware of
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          2  Con Ed's infrastructure being a network grid as

          3  opposed to a singular line grid, as they keep saying

          4    --

          5                 MR. MOLLENKOPF:  Yes.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  --  Every time

          7  and that the network grid, the electricity can come

          8  from multiple sources to a particular home?  Have

          9  you, are your systems operating in a network grid

         10  anymore?

         11                 MR. MOLLENKOPF:  In the, Current

         12  systems are not presently deployed anywhere where a,

         13  a network grid is employed. We have met with Con Ed

         14  to discuss how Current's technology could apply to

         15  that.

         16                 Once again, the whole idea of BPL is

         17  the signal goes where the electricity goes.  So, as

         18  a result, there are a lot of capabilities to go

         19  ahead and use BPL on that, although the, the

         20  equipment would need to be configured slightly

         21  differently than it is in, in networks like you see

         22  up in Westchester or in the vast majority of the

         23  rest of the country.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  So, do some of

         25  you believe that your technology could survive the
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          2  variables of a network grid  --

          3                 MR. MOLLENKOPF:  Yes.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  --  Because the

          5  BPL signal will follow the electricity, wherever it

          6  flows to?

          7                 MR. MOLLENKOPF:  Yes.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Even through

          9  transformers or secondary or tertiary or primary

         10  lines?

         11                 MR. MOLLENKOPF:  The, it's important

         12  to note that in our approach we actually carry the

         13  signal around the transformers.  The transformers

         14  make a lousy conduit for the high frequency signals

         15  that BPL comprises.  We've actually developed

         16  equipment that mounts onto the electricity

         17  infrastructure that carries that signal around the

         18  transformer and does so safely and effectively.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  So, therefore,

         20  you would have to be doing installations within the

         21  grid, as opposed to just within the home?

         22                 MR. MOLLENKOPF:  That's correct.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  So, you haven't

         24  been able to run a test project within the Con

         25  Edison grid anywhere?
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          2                 MR. MOLLENKOPF:  Not at this time.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  But, you have

          4  done, didn't you do a project in one of the

          5  buildings on the West Side?

          6                 MR. MOLLENKOPF:  No.  That was

          7  Ambient.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Okay.  Where is

          9  your biggest application that's currently running

         10  now?

         11                 MR. MOLLENKOPF:  That is a network in

         12  Cincinnati, Ohio, that is presently deployed with

         13  slightly over 60,000 homes passed and several

         14  thousand broadband Internet customers.  Also, we

         15  are, we are now deploying in Texas, where we're

         16  deploying to approximately two million homes.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  And how long

         18  have you been in Ohio?

         19                 MR. MOLLENKOPF:  We started doing

         20  trial networks back in 2001 and began deploying

         21  commercially in early 2004.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  So you could get

         23  us an assessment on that?

         24                 MR. MOLLENKOPF:  Absolutely.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  You're operating
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          2  above the, what is it the 30 megahertz spectrum to

          3  not interfere with the radio signals?

          4                 MR. MOLLENKOPF:  Yes.  On the, on the

          5  medium voltage lines, the lines that, in an overhead

          6  system or at the very top of a utility pole, we use

          7  above 30 megahertz, in large part, to avoid

          8  interference with a variety of licensed radio users.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Okay, and that's

         10  not a problem for you to, or any provider that would

         11  want to do BPL, to operate at that frequency?

         12                 MR. MOLLENKOPF:  I think we've been

         13  able to demonstrate you can do it and do it

         14  effectively.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  And even in an

         16  underground grid, you could still operate at above

         17  30 megahertz?

         18                 MR. MOLLENKOPF:  That, that's

         19  correct.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  So, in

         21  Cincinnati or Texas, did you have to work with the

         22  equivalent of the PSC in any way or were there,

         23  those barriers did not exist?

         24                 MR. MOLLENKOPF:  In the, in the

         25  Cincinnati deployment, we actually formed a joint
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          2  venture, along with an unregulated subsidiary of

          3  Synergy Corporation, which is the parent of

          4  Cincinnati Gas and Electric.  That joint venture

          5  then is rolling out the service and providing that

          6  to end user consumers.

          7                 The, the cost allocation rules that

          8  are associated with really any unregulated

          9  subsidiary go ahead and apply there. The PSC

         10  actually is part of a Cincinnati Gas and Electric

         11  rate case, was able to look at that and also find

         12  that there was no cross- subsidization happening at

         13  that point.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Okay.  Are you

         15  finding in these two locations or elsewhere that

         16  there's a savings to the consumer and, obviously, a

         17  more global application, in other words, people can

         18  use this for different types of telecommunications?

         19                 MR. MOLLENKOPF:  Yes.  We are, we are

         20  providing data.  We are also providing voice.  We

         21  are, the overall service rates are between $25.00

         22  and $35.00 per month, from what we have seen.  We

         23  have certainly seen a competitive response from

         24  other providers in the market place and certainly

         25  showing that competition works.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  So, if it's

          3  competitive, that means that it's fast, compared to

          4  other  --

          5                 MR. MOLLENKOPF:  Absolutely.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  --

          7  Applications?

          8                 MR. MOLLENKOPF:  That's correct.

          9  It's multiple, multiple megabits down to the

         10  consumer and that's real end user data.  We actually

         11  deliver that as opposed to simply talking about it.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Okay.  Now, if

         13  we were to apply this here in New York City, as

         14  Council Member Comrie stated, what would be some of

         15  the barriers?  You obviously heard Con Ed speak

         16  today, you've heard others.  What do you think some

         17  of the barriers would be to, obviously the PSC, but,

         18  what would be some of the barriers?  If any, nothing

         19  in New York is easy.

         20                 MR. MOLLENKOPF:  I confess, I'm more

         21  of a technologist and less of a regulatory expert,

         22  so  --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Okay, but just

         24  in terms of the technology.

         25                 MR. MOLLENKOPF:  The primary
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          2  technical barrier would be ensuring that we had the

          3  technical configuration right for the equipment as

          4  it worked on that, on that low voltage grid system,

          5  in particular that Con Ed employs.  That would be

          6  the primary technical barrier.  Most of the other

          7  issues, as far as safety and reliability,

          8  interference, we've able to show that we've

          9  successfully addressed through our other

         10  deployments.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Just back to the

         12  gentleman from the amateur radio.  You talked about

         13  in your reports suggestions that you want to require

         14  Con Ed and BPL equipment providers to use low poling

         15  rates to minimize transmission time. What's the low

         16  poling rate?

         17                 MR. FALLON:  Okay, I'm not sure what

         18  the technical term is, but my, the gentleman sitting

         19  next to me probably has a better terminology.  But,

         20  poling rate, to me, is when the system from the

         21  smart, when the smart meter system sends out a

         22  reading. In other words, does it do that once a

         23  minute, once every five minutes, once every ten, 15,

         24  half hour, hour?  In other words, the lower, the

         25  less frequently it does it, the less chance there
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          2  will be of us having to put up with a lot of

          3  interference.  That would be particularly if they

          4  didn't use a, a 30 to 50, 30 to 80 megahertz

          5  implementation.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  But if they used

          7  30 to 80, you wouldn't worry about poling rates at

          8  all.

          9                 MR. FALLON:  I would not worry about

         10  poling rates. I don't believe, no.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Okay.  I just

         12  wanted to be clear on that.  And, to the gentleman

         13  from Current, so you're saying that within a network

         14  grid where you have different levels of electricity,

         15  in a network grid for Con Ed, they have a low power

         16  grid that goes to the homes and it steps up to a

         17  medium grid and a high power grid, you would be able

         18  to come in and assess the technology and effectively

         19  run a system that could bring BPL in at a comparable

         20  rate to other technologies?

         21                 MR. MOLLENKOPF:  We believe so.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  And what would

         23  be your normal home band width?

         24                 MR. MOLLENKOPF:  The, what we're

         25  offering in Texas is up to ten megabits, that's both
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          2  ten megabits up and down to the consumer.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  And ten megabits

          4  is what?

          5                 MR. MOLLENKOPF:  It's, it's mighty

          6  fast.  It, I'm sure, the, as a for instance, sort of

          7  the standard, so- called t one rate that is often

          8  used for office buildings is one and a half

          9  megabits.  So, obviously, that is several times that

         10  rate.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Yes, I'm always

         12   --

         13                 MS. KLEINMAN:  It's fast.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Yes, but if

         15  you're doing, like I'm supposedly getting ten

         16  megabits on my cable, is that an actual ten that I'm

         17  getting? Because sometimes I get like that I'm, for

         18  whatever reason when I look at it, it says I'm

         19  running ten megabits, but if I'm trying to run a

         20  video from like ABC News, it's saying that I'm

         21  getting low band width.  I mean, what, is that

         22  because of my computer or is it because of the cable

         23  is not consistent?

         24                 MR. MOLLENKOPF:  The cable

         25  technologies, the signal that runs from the fiber
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          2  drop in your neighborhood along that piece of cable

          3  that runs throughout the neighborhood is a shared

          4  medium, so that all of the, all of the subscribers

          5  in your neighborhood are sharing that physical

          6  medium and really sharing that overall band width

          7  that that medium is capable of providing. BPL  --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  So, even though

          9   --

         10                 MR. MOLLENKOPF:  --  Is also a shared

         11  medium, but the sort of the, what's called the over

         12  subscription rate, which is really how many users

         13  are on a, are sharing a particular chunk of actual

         14  provided band width tends to be much lower and, as a

         15  result, we've worked to try and keep the consumer

         16  experience a little bit higher.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  So, that means

         18  even though it's saying ten megabits, its

         19  exponentially divided by how many people are

         20  actually on my network.

         21                 MR. MOLLENKOPF:  Yes.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Which I would

         23  never know.

         24                 MR. MOLLENKOPF:  Right.  Broadband,

         25  most of the incumbent broadband providers are really
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          2  selling what's called up to rates.  So, you're,

          3  you're really getting up to ten megabits, or up to a

          4  particular rate and overall loading of the network

          5  is certainly one of the  --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Pardon me?

          7                 MR. MOLLENKOPF:  The actual activity

          8  and the loading of that cable network is probably

          9  the most significant factor into what you actually

         10  experience in your home.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  So I need to

         12  talk to an IT guy to find out whether or not I'm

         13  getting what I'm getting, what they say I'm getting

         14   --

         15                 MS. KLEINMAN:  Can I make a point

         16  here?

         17                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  --  When I'm

         18  looking to get it, right?

         19                 MR. FALLON:  You need smart metering.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Go ahead.

         21                 MS. KLEINMAN:  That's what I was

         22  going to say, smart metering, this is a different

         23  type of application but it's the same thing.  If you

         24  had a way to know when all the kids in the

         25  neighborhood are downloading their favorite songs,
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          2  which is the kind of thing that puts a real hit, you

          3  know, it sounds very typical, but it's true.  That

          4  type of thing puts a real hit.  If you know that

          5  these are the hours where there's the highest

          6  demand, then you might just watch your video of ABC

          7  at a different hour  --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Right.

          9                 MS. KLEINMAN:  --  And schedule stuff

         10  around it. It's just a different, it's the same

         11  concept as smarter metering of energy use, but

         12  instead of energy use, it's your Internet usage.

         13  So, you know, that kind of stuff can be, I would

         14  think, extremely useful also.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Right and just a

         16  question for you.  You heard Con Edison no longer

         17  does energy assessments, but they also said that

         18  NYSERDA is allowing smart metering.  Have any of you

         19  applied to have smart meters for, are you in Spring

         20  Creek?

         21                 MS. KLEINMAN:  No, I'm in Brooklyn.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Pardon me?

         23                 MS. KLEINMAN:  I'm in Brooklyn, Coney

         24  Island.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Spring Creek is
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          2  not in Brooklyn?  Oh, sorry.  Okay.  I just, make

          3  sure, you know, I had 24 ounces  --

          4                 MS. KLEINMAN:  Let me put it this way

          5    --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  --  Of coffee

          7  already.  I thought they were both in Brooklyn.

          8                 MS. KLEINMAN:  If I could get smart

          9  metering that will let us do that kind of, that kind

         10  of rate, you know, real time pricing, I'd be

         11  cheering.  On a personal level, I'd be cheering.  My

         12  electric bill is horrendous and I'm sure we could,

         13  you know, do something about it if I had any idea

         14  when I could, you know, and I'm not the only, you

         15  know, I look at us, I look at my kids, I can tell my

         16  kids, you know, not now, later or earlier. You know,

         17  but, without that information  --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  What we found

         19  out today is that NYSERDA is doing smart metering

         20  installations for individual home owners and that's

         21  one thing that we will probably follow- up on and

         22   --

         23                 MS. KLEINMAN:  They don't make it

         24  easy to find the information.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Right.
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          2                 MS. KLEINMAN:  They really, really

          3  don't.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Well, we'll have

          5  to probably do a Hearing in the Committee, Consumer

          6  Affairs Committee to probably bring in NYSERDA to

          7  ask them what and how they're putting out that

          8  information to people.  So, I'm sure Council Member

          9  Brewer will do it with me.

         10                 It's interesting that Con Ed is not

         11  doing that anymore and I think that that's something

         12  the Committee will have to address as well.  You

         13  know, energy consumption, especially when we're

         14  utilizing more energy, that the utility companies

         15  are not offering an opportunity to do energy

         16  assessments is just not, it should be part of their

         17  overall mission.

         18                 MS. KLEINMAN:  By the way, another

         19  point I'd like to mention, if you ask them they'll

         20  tell you they're not doing it.  Both Keyspan and Con

         21  Ed make it look on their, from their site, that

         22  they're still doing it.  I just went through this

         23  about six months ago, I wanted to do a home energy

         24  assessment and I went through hoops until I found

         25  somebody who could tell me, oh, we haven't been
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          2  doing that in two years.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  You know, I

          4  think, I mean, I have a great respect for Mr. Banks,

          5  but I think he's wrong.  I think they're doing it,

          6  because I'm in the middle of doing a, building a

          7  house, actually, and I recall getting an offer to do

          8  energy assessment.  So, I've got to check that and

          9  double check that with them, so.

         10                 MS. KLEINMAN:  Well, some of their

         11  staff certainly think they're not doing it.  I can't

         12  say more than that.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  We've got to

         14  work that out. But, we will have a Hearing on that

         15  because, clearly, that's a major opportunity for

         16  savings for consumers and just to get the

         17  information out, I think, would be part of our

         18  mission as elected officials.

         19                 MS. KLEINMAN:  Sure.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  So, with that, I

         21  want to thank our esteemed Chair of the Technology

         22  Committee, Council Member Brewer, for her holding

         23  this Hearing with me today.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Thank you very

         25  much for all being here.  I just have one more
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          2  question regarding Cincinnati or Texas.  Does the

          3  city work with you on some of the applications?

          4  Obviously one of them is energy savings, so how do

          5  those determinations get made? Because it's an

          6  individual savings, but we're also looking for

          7  policy savings.

          8                 MR. MOLLENKOPF:  Sure.  The

          9  deployment in Cincinnati is really not focused on

         10  so- called smart grid features.  The deployment in

         11  Texas is centrally focused on that. There have been

         12  a number of things that we have worked with both

         13  state and local legislators, the PSC, the State of

         14  Texas passed a law back in 2005 to really focus on

         15  the regulatory treatment of BPL and addressed some

         16  of the cost recovery and those types of issues.

         17                 TXU Electric Delivery is paying

         18  Current for a variety of smart grid features that

         19  are highlighted on that handout that I gave you,

         20  that are really focused on allowing them to be a lot

         21  more efficient in how they deliver electricity.  We

         22  are also working with elected officials on roll out

         23  plans and that type of thing.  Certainly, what we've

         24  seen is every community, once that was announced,

         25  really wanted to be early in the deployment list.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Thank you very

          3  much.  Thank you Council Member Comrie.  Thank you

          4  for your testimony.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  You weren't

          6  going to testify?

          7                 MR. LISENCO:  I was just here to lend

          8  my support and answer any questions  --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  All right, I

         10  didn't want to be disrespectful.  All right, well

         11  thank you for coming.  You want to say your name for

         12  the record.

         13                 MR. LISENCO:  My name is Mike Lisenco

         14  and I am currently the District Emergency

         15  Coordinator for the Amateur Radio Emergency Service

         16  in New York City.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay.  Thanks for

         18  coming. With that I'll declare the Hearing closed.

         19  Thank you all for attending.

         20                 (Hearing concluded at 12:30 p.m.)

         21

         22                 (The following written testimony was

         23  read into the record)

         24

         25  WRITTEN TESTIMONY OF:
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          2  DAVID HEPINSTALL AND DANIEL HARRIS

          3  ASSOCIATION FOR ENERGY AFFORDABILITY, INC.

          4

          5                 We appreciate the opportunity to

          6  present testimony on behalf of the Association for

          7  Energy Affordability in response to the Council

          8  Resolution being considered by the Committee.

          9                 Advanced or "smart" metering, meaning

         10  hourly measuring, remotely retrievable electric

         11  meters are a powerful tool to achieve electrical

         12  demand mitigation and energy efficiency improvements

         13  but widespread installation of these meters requires

         14  careful consideration of installation, cost, data

         15  retrieval, data availability, and building

         16  characteristics.

         17                 AEA supports the goal of system- wide

         18  installation of advanced electric metering in Con

         19  Edison electric service territory throughout New

         20  York City for reasons including, but not limited to,

         21  the one articulated in Resolution 425.  (We are

         22  available to provide further information regarding

         23  the origins and rationale this support at the

         24  request of the Council Committees).  Our testimony

         25  today reflects both our enthusiasm for the goal and
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          2  our willingness to participate with the Council and

          3  other interested parties in developing a strategy

          4  and process for achieving this goal most

          5  effectively.  We offer this support while also

          6  acknowledging our understanding of the complexity of

          7  factors and perspectives that will have to be

          8  addressed for this goal to be achieved.

          9                 The cost of installation of smart

         10  metering technology, besides the initial capital

         11  cost, must include the differing metering

         12  topologies, ownership structures, data retrieval,

         13  and data loss procedures that are encountered with

         14  the utilization of smart metering.  As noted above,

         15  we share the broad goal of achieving smart meters in

         16  the mass market, assuring that all residential

         17  customers have affordable access to this technology

         18  and its potential benefits.  However, the path to

         19  achieving this goal is not an automatic one that can

         20  be achieved instantaneously or without cost.  The

         21  steps that must be taken to achieve this goal are

         22  not currently self- evident to regulators,

         23  utilities, competitive suppliers and advanced

         24  metering advocates and suppliers.

         25                 AEA believes that widespread
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          2  implementation of smart metering residential

          3  customers, in apartment buildings (whether rental,

          4  condominium or cooperative units), single family

          5  housing and two- four unit small homes should be the

          6  ultimate goal, but that a collaborative process

          7  should be developed, involving the interested public

          8  and private parties, in order to achieve a workable

          9  implementation plan for the city.

         10                 Financing for metering and

         11  infrastructure will require a complex solution that

         12  spreads the costs out over the beneficiaries in such

         13  a way that the individual rate payer is not forced

         14  to pay for all or most of the cost of a service that

         15  they may not want or may not utilize in the way that

         16  the resolution is intending.

         17                 In the context of a restructured

         18  electric energy market initiated in New York by the

         19  Public Services Commission in its May 1996 Order,

         20  and that fact that a new state administration to be

         21  inaugurated in January 2007 can be expected to

         22  undertake a careful review and assessment of the

         23  status of electric industry deregulation in New

         24  York, this resolution by the City Council is timely

         25  and significant.
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          2                 Implementing a smart metering

          3  infrastructure throughout New York City could have

          4  widespread benefits for residential customers.  But

          5  it must also fit within the framework of this new

          6  electric energy supply and distribution market

          7  (whether in its current or revised version) in a

          8  manner that ensures affordable access by residential

          9  customers to an advanced electric meter combined

         10  with an electric system that permits release of

         11  electric usage data that can be used for settlement

         12  purposes at the NY ISO, in order for new energy

         13  suppliers to serve this mass residential market and

         14  offer time sensitive pricing to residential

         15  customers.

         16                 Not all customers relish the

         17  opportunity to gain access to free market varying

         18  electric prices.  Once implemented the customer

         19  usage data must be available for any supplier to

         20  utilize so that customers now exposed to the free

         21  market price of electricity may choose third party

         22  electrical products that provide the hedging

         23  function that the utility once provided.

         24                 An implementation plan that provides

         25  cohesive, affordable, and comprehensive smart
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          2  metering accessible to all residential customers in

          3  the city can reap the benefits of the type

          4  identified in the resolution before the committee.

          5                 Thank you again for the opportunity

          6  to appear before this Joint Committee Meeting,

          7                 David Hepinstall, Executive Director

          8  and Daniel Harris, PE

          9                 Association for Energy Affordability,

         10  Inc.

         11                 (Hearing concluded at 12:30 p.m.)
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          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CHERYL MILLER, do hereby certify

         10  that the foregoing is a true and accurate transcript

         11  of the within proceeding.

         12                 I further certify that I am not

         13  related to any of the parties to this action by

         14  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         15  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         16                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         17  set my hand this 19th day of October 2006.
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         25                          CHERYL MILLER
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          9            I, CHERYL MILLER, do hereby certify the

         10  aforesaid to be a true and accurate copy of the

         11  transcription of the audio tapes of this hearing.

         12

         13

         14

         15

         16

         17

         18

         19

         20

         21

         22                 -----------------------

                              CHERYL MILLER

         23

         24

         25

